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FOLDER:
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DESCRIPTION:

Kane, James

DATE:

09/28/91
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L%ﬁ being. duly examined before. the under-

on the annexed charge; and beme informed that it is right to
A sgtement in relation to the charge against hat the. statement is desigz%i/

if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against

is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that } waiver cannot b&“ used

on the trial. ‘ i

—.Question. \Whs

Answer.

 Questio F Ol are yon 7 —
4
ApSwer. /é‘ _ W
QRQuestion. -
Answer.

Question. -
Answer. N
Question. ySiness or pro{ession ? ~
Answer.

el
ﬂ ’v/“

Question.  Give any explanation Yo may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
' hst/ fou, and state any faects which you think will tend to your

testimony agnjh
exculpation ?
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N

It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

convmnitted, and that there is sufficient car

Tee be Iveld to a

e ddundred Dollars,

I have adm.ilted the above-named.

tobail to answer Ly the undertaking ltereto annexed.

Dated.. ... ..o 18

There being no sufficient cawse to helieve the within named...............

- Suilty of the offence within mentioned.

Dated.. . ... ..

I order

)

e Police Justice.

to be discharged.

Police Jwstice.,
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. @omxt of Geweval Sessions of the Beace
OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

ToHE PEOYLE OF THE STATE or NEwW YorRr

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accure

_ "X.w‘ @ /&m O .

of the CriMeE oF,Qﬁ{:YND LARCEXNY in the sra> oo a2 degree, committed as follows :

The s:lid<\&\,\~\or._. T . ‘F\W/

Iate of the City of New York. in the County of New York aforesaid, on t]xena.-q.b:n.h&\,
day of é&.%‘ ~—Ssaw~_ _ in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

time of the said day, at the City and County aforesaid,
~ . e D
= o -~ ('t{‘» D™ " ’_Q'S\»Q k{:\r:.
\j% ;’ _- . W
. \\u,x_\( R -;9\\ b -7
R it
%:—.\ /&4»\:_ ?‘%,\\QJ' > TN ‘\<

- J\?\\ kx' -

ninety- o> a | in the v

with force and arms,

(—wQE,A,v 'b\\:‘

T S

—_——

of the goods, clgnLtS!s :1‘:1_6.! porsonal property of -m"‘—"""x.";‘::“' K
on the person of the said Mws' -

there being fo&uoolé,érom the person of the said_s~on .

away, against the form of the statute in

g WWM
e I

then and
then and there feloniously “lid_steal, take and carry
such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the Stute of New York

and their digrity. o X S S
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THE PEOPLXE - COURT OY CGENIIRAL SES3ZIONS, PART I.

VSe

SIMON KAPLAIN. ( BEXORE JUDGE MARTINE.

Monday, (October 19, 1891.
Indictinent for grand larceny in the second degrec.
Asst. Dist. Atty. Weeks fo:r the People-
Mr.Levy Tor tihc Defendant.

A Jur, was cmpzannelled and sworn.

ir.Weckesey opencd thre cass for thie People.

HEITRY WOLLNEY. sworn and oxmainced.
you live, Lr.VWecdlney®

asr

York, .20 tit Warde
emmmloy of tihie Firm of Jerkowski & Ernst?
Yos sir.

bus inesss Llo. 320 IZroacdwvway.

Te clevator man.

In the
Sy the Court. Q. Give us That number asain ih Broadwvay?
SHe 70.626. |
By lir.VWeekes. (. "hat loit in that builldin, doecs tiis firm occupy?
A. Ticy occupy tne first floor over the store, the
~fourth and the fifth.
Q. iWerc you o duty there on the 20th ol August of ti:is

A. Yes sire.

{Yhat time did you ;o on duty? A. ly duty is to,.come
b g =+
Cri

on ‘at 12.30..

prlibepuehsh e




In the morning I am talking about? A In the morning
at half past seven o'clock.

Yere you tnecrc on that

Ani were you coniinuously on that =2levator

seven in the morning wuniil lunciicon hour? : sir.
That was ¢ rnat timew 1€ € from
tuelve
from twre raRts you Tock yoir luanch
where were { f ) Se Onn e torx
wherse 1 cat my lunche.
tiric cxecept by ygu?

iy but my-

your luncl: you are o1 ¥y tlie clevator
roepe ecznno0T L2 mowved wi ’ seeling
sovaea wiezuse I

Jiron iHoplon on

about -7

iront ol the door whore I niave 11y clevator.

In Crosby Street in front of the rear entrznece

A Tes sir.
fow pleasc siate what you saw L1 ? conversa-—
tion if any you had with him z2na

A. Well, when I came down = i f'oand this
gentleman at my door asking to co:me upstairse.

Ly the Court. Q. Who did he ask, you? A. Yos sir, to come

up stairs with me on the elevator; I nave tzken the gentle-

|
I‘ man up and four bags on hiz arm.




\
\

Q. You did take hiim up on that day?

brought
department is.

lir<Weekes, Jou

ter -
w2

harpne

witii his meantim: I wuy

pPackase Ixpross

I came clevator

and rececived my parcels zo S0 to

the sitreet ang aflfter I went to tne

pPaclking departuaent is whiere I

to the ground floo: on the stroe

expressuage; I rem=zined o few minutes

‘and finally

I 0t on the clevator znd

When I got to the top floor I founa

3

caalloed Y anc

whiech I

on

oo

I dia, sir, I

him o the top of the buildins where the cutting

took nim up:

e
2 1 .wad a
had to gez avay ;
next

below wiicre the

delivered it to Tile
at tihhe door as usual
went upstairs again.

this mz2n at the head

2levator



-of the hatch standing ready to go down; e nad his bag
plzced rigllt by trie ha :r onn the floor of The cutting des=
1 ready® A He said, yes.
it ouwt on thiec elevator and he
tcp ol tiie bag
T} Lo
of' placing m vack sidoways and Lol
like a2nd looking T2 elevator;

.

queer when I looked at the bH

shnowing) a2na pulle:
out 1 it

=

Qe V3 : wzien?

the Court.
misitrusted was sonacthiing wrong, I nezllocsed to the cartman,
Yplease waten thiis man row e was geing; witii thias
I jumped on ithe elevator zand rushied upsizirs.

Q- Yhere was e wha you cz2ll2d tnzat outy
standing azlongside tnhe building.
‘How far eway wus he to the carman® carman

'stood this side of iLhe building ofr from Houston Strect.

Q. :g\'fhen you called ihat where was Caplan, how far fronm t:e

gcama.n? A. He must have been =zbout ten or fifteen feet

DI (e e

ijaway from the building, the carman was right next to me

]
¥ SRS




e T m s S e ey s et e
I T S

standing, the carman was the nearest to
ligiit mmanner.

By Counsel. Q. : e e o sir, e did not
hear

The Court:

sir.VWeekes:
Tell ma what you . < : S Lt LAt said to
an_  Dody wnless 1 viras H PG > ) wont
out witi: this bag ; L oredge: T G eleva-

i"loor.

Yes sir.

And ailier
out
daown on t : &1 once.
Yo went down on tne elevators
tir.Lanlkay-
Had you sioken to tnem?
closc togasther.
You spoke te boih oif thnem 2t once and tihr ., went dovan on the
elevator witih you and went into the strecet? A-Yes sir,
In whici: direction did they then 5o AL Towards
Bleccker Streect.
Now did you at or =about that tirme spéak t0 anyone oclse in

the store about what you had seen? Ae No s8ir, only

those two.




By

Do you know

sront ol the

Q-

Levy.

na

Jlong

An L during

Wie

Haplear

have

way

Do sou reomer

You

ave

aber

wnether or not }':aple.n's exXpress was in

Crosby Street entrance

sir, I have not wilanever.

vere

a net?

wuypon

you bacon enploy

xe

ffcar

asicn to fregquenily sce

ccce

-

C-12

Wy zund dewa on ceilevator,

(SR SIUTE

dr ini:y

SitTs o woiors

up?

tiie conversation

time he gave you the ten cenits?

withh niin w

You said no
without any
Ao

t

1
t
i
t

;he court. Q.
¥
]

natevere.

thing to nim nor did ne s anytiiing to you but

conversation he nand2d you wen cents?

1le handed it to me frequentlye.
Did he say anything to youv?

(5]




By Counsel. Q. lile gave yocu ten cents and You put it in your pocket?

A. I rat it in my pocket.
Wihen XHapyplan came to that place and you rode nim up and down
on the elcvacor. had yo bheon in thie nabit of receciving

money {from Iz 2 : sir, neover.

IIad you at ¢ i > 2 oLy money
HA. I i me o:ance belorse,

mistaken.

OCutside of Ty Yo recaeived any money {rop: hiinag

e I
2 bhass = R ,1a wnich

Yes sir,

carsried by cxpress

In whicihi they reccive ithie wo:rk foo
to ma2ke up, is not thatit ity
Now you say that the first and the fcurth and £fiTt . Tloors

‘or lofts are occupied by . our {£irm? A. ¥Yes sir.

And the sccond znd third Jeofts zre occupicd by oihe:r peopler

A. Yes sir, by two other people.

7




WVhat are their nanes? lieheals and Sutley.
In what business are tihiey? Clothing.

Thie samez line of Usiness wnich your iy ig engsased in?

Ae Yos sir,

tne Court. WVas your elevator conneected

Yes sir,

thie nane

Counsel. Q. Wnat iy

the next.
Viiat business are they engeszéd ine Clowiiing also.
The same line 0L business ar gihint in wi.ien ycur 11 is n-

sased ine Ao Yeos sir,
Ana viz ¥willich you ran ccnnicectrs Wit botn tiiose

2levaior 2and the lotrs,

cleva-

cleva-

=nd the

Tl Liic cdoor Ly l.e1rzon
Moy £o into anys one oy the five loits v ¢ clevator, ig
that so? e des o knock

they can cetr in, they, opecn for

a[ppens tant 1hose dooss 1re not lockedy

It Irequently n

3
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" You

closed.

fave any or Th

<

the elevatore

WVilo uses the elevator

Ne Nobody

is

to say

mentioned?

5 oL

an

ZVeoerasa

N

Luaaere ig

&.,50utT ten

emplo

iy

ave

W.aen you

aboutr ten men you

oply«

As I understand it.
take expressmen with

A. I do so,

averare you s

a;
A

ot 211 exnr
A

together.

They

1y

your

I8

I have

a

are alwa s closed, they are noz

locked but

C emdloyecs

1abit

Oof riding on

tiey are not 21lowed.
otaer tiran yourselils

butrt ine Iirm, tae bosses.

Lire: zo.a 13 TWO otny

employ o

stocl

mmenn

ever

J

2boas

men?

yers?

to taliec ujp

and down.

sveak of ten expressmen

Bverybody.

Jsour instruciions arc that you are to
their lozdg Uup on the elevator?

to

-
[

do

-
2T

boii ten or those e Ssmen, is that it
ess, I mean cxXpres:;

s and the fipm inciud-~




Czan you tell us now aboutl now many expressimen serve your
firmy
About ‘how many? { = i one, IFetter Ilrom
Brooklyn, =nd tnare from Hrownsville, I do noti Xxnow
nisg neme, and Tiiell W 118 ¢ { a P ress comes up
thecre Iraia the city, 1 noet
Do you count Xaplan too? g b I wid notr count
hirm, I cannot count ° Y3 : oz up noi.

Tnat time 1 O D itlerent expressmaen canme uls

nadbit

s
s ana ¢cnceis with

tilore

0

lof{t alstc occu—

nlzece occecupied

1T course.
Do tiie Tiras vinio occupy wihie secona and tine tnisd lof'ts de-—
liver and receive goods by means o .12 clevator taat you
ran? T:ey do, sir.
And they nave guitc a number of cxprescmen? A. They

two expres-smens.

ts
<
g

e Court. Q. Fach? o4 thheir

I cannot remembers.

."_’":;"“‘
..
2

13




Q. Afte . You had placed thi

is the cuT ting

By Counse1.
wihiileh floor, ang had l1er: him

gone down how much time hag elapseq between

return ang Yyour ital 5 5 on your

At tihe time Jou receisre.. himon ,our
down were 21l the enployees o

him

4. PThey

deparirient their Places<

Howwr many people are en;s:

e T wij) ave

department floors
To ray calcul

a
e

Alout howy many®v

fouirteon men.

Q In the cutiing derartments

v

3y thne Court.

34,
-2

v

Soine gl

21lso otihare Cmployes

nohing to do with thai top fl1oor.

So that The:c are about fofrteen maen

A. Yes Sir_

Do you know whiere the Piece good;

I do, sir.

e

WVhen Eaplan £0t into tie clovator to con

All 1 says, <

Ao

I saia to him.

A

reply to you?

on the elevator and came

he

2ll, hnhe ot

What wag hisg Position op vhere Wre placeq the

A.

;fhe had taken up
J
s""
i

at that time?

S man upon the

clevaotor

vour firm in

°mployed on Tz

2re placed on

down aig

- You ready to cone

ile sSays,

He haa

tOop flooz,
there ang haqg

the time of Your

elevator?

t0o take

the

<

ragea in émployment uron

flocr:

have
floore?
ithat floore

Jou speak
down -,
Yvyes', ana

down with me.

empiy bags thatf

them on his arm’




e A A, e s e

wviien he left me.
Q- I amtallking of the +ime ne went down?
placed on top of +his bag wherc he had
You szid a minute ago that I

A. When 12 came up, 1 am SpS: up, ne

f12d them placed. on hiis arm. YWien e went down bayg was

lying on the ground floor and the empty bags on top of the

other when ne picked it up-

By Nthe Court. &. ile went up wiith empiy bass? A. Yes sir

Q. Did he conme baeck with them Mll or still empity?

A. One had goods in and theo otiniers was cempty.

e nad onc bag with gcods inv ~e Yes, I

Qe Ana wnen
something

Dy Counsel. Q. You sa, e nad four ba: s, count them?

A. Yes, I scen ithc bags, f'oa 1 can see wvhat a

man nas got on his arm.

Were tiiey on his arm? iic ecame out tue bag$

was placed on the ground floor with the goods and the other

bar;s on top-

You szy that when you came up again tec take him down that

you found him waiting for you znd that you said, "are yoa

ready", and he said “yes." - Ae Yes sir.

II'TO\'I I ask you at tht time where vwore the bags?

A. On the ground floor placed on top of the other bag

which the goods was in.




Lying upon the floor? A+ On the floor, yes sir.

How did he get them intvo the elevator? e I will shovw

you; there is the elevator sguare (illustrating) b3 stooped

down znd he got the end oi the bag and he dragrmed across

the elevator and the elprty bags were placed over thie top,

spread out.

And then e pullca them owud viien he got to the ground 10619
A. Fle repluced it Lrom the elevator in ithe same Pos

tion as he puz ii on.

Those arc very larse bagse

aboutr Ifour

that

and
lons a tnec E Y Xxno-r

rom

that thesre noa c suspicion directed

azainst otner People in the l:ouse B removing or taking
$oods? SHe NO sir,
You never heard of thot until tiiis cccurrences

o sir, I never heard anything, I ne=:d thzt there
Was goods missing, ses, bu I izd no suspicion.
Isn't it a fact that suspicion was ot one time directed
against you for having rcemovead some goods?

A. Apzinst me?

¢ Yese A. Never.
i




You were anxious to cateh the thief, were you not®

A. Very -nxious to :01d my respect in the nouse under

the position in which Istand.

If you were not Suspecied wihy vere you anxicus to retain the

respect under whicih, as you say, Yol stand.

X Not to place myself so as they would think perhaps

S
I would do such business,
You did think that they might think you would do such busi-
ness? A I ai ot say thut ot all, that they
thougat I would do aly. hing of the lind bui to S how my honest
charzacter it was my daiy to protect m:sel: and se--
could put my nhonds ontio thic person whielr done tihrig
You were never accused cf having article?
becen accused, no sir.
as Tnourh it was your
cate:: Was my duty
I was loocking rer house ic¢ ind out who
the m=2n is under my prosition
dowvn.
Thien complzint - been made
missing? A« I have ipard it.
Did eny of the " c2ll your a2trention to that?

A. No sir, the_, <id not call my =z2ttention.

Are you bPrepared 10 testify to these centlemen of the jury
now that you were not Suspectea of having stolen articles

'from thaet house? A« I ame

You arec very anxious to nave this man convicted, are you

not? A T do not wish to convict any man whieh is hon-

‘est.

1
|

;You have an interest in securing his conviection in this case,

14




T ———

haven't you? A I have no interest whatever only my
veekly paymecnt whienh I rceeived.
The toestimony that you sive to-~day it the samec as you

gavc-upoxx +he last trial? e W I shéuld think it

is.
Isnt't it a fzect that upon ~hhe last tirial you testifiea thhat
he kickecd the empty bags into thie elevator on its way down?

Objec~u 1O Objicction sustained-

took him

wiie bundle oy W and try to
ci =Thom, Gl ? e I never
Iy
aid : 2t «11?

in tThem?

cut or

aid notv ask =2 whec was ot

A. o sir

You aiad < an, thing 2bout it even afiiter he
pulled the bags out in the nhallway? S I aid not,
But youa irmicdiately rushed upstairs bLY +he elecvator znd Te-
ported it to particzs up tnere? 3 i@ report ite.
Yo dida you report it to? To Lir.Lumkay and
Jo Greenthal.
1iy. Lumkay is the foreman of tiie cuiting department?
A. Yes sire.
Anc Mr.Greenthal is <he trimmer in the cutiing department?
A. ile is +the gentleman gives out the work-

15




you pass anyone on your wa, to tell these two gentlemen?

A. I didnot, I never come near them, they are awy.
on the S&SITr upper end.
you regard i1t as being a rather siranse circumstance
this man should have given youw ten cents without a word
tile wzaiy up Se I will explain it.
you regard it as a2 strange circumstonce o was T a
usual circumistance? e S a usuzal habiz of
men tiiat wvhcen a man rides up and down on an elevator and
vyou azcccmidate ni sometimes nicliy to talie off a box
helr him
cigar®,

nav

JOSFPiH E.
ined by Lir.Weckes. .
Wihere do you 1live, r.Greentinal? p - Soutn iinth
Street, Brooklyn.
You are cmpldvyed Iy the {firmof Gerkowski & Ilrnst?
A. Yos sir.

In the cuttin.; department? = 4 sir,
Cn the fourth lcit of 824 Broadway? Ne The £ifth loft.
Is it part of your duiy to give cut the work to tailors to
make up? A. Yes sir.
Now on the 20th of August of this year a2t what hour did you
get there that day? A. A quarter ol one o'clock.

i And where is your desk on that loft? A. In t.::c center

of the loft. le

r—-»wr—Mv_-_...ﬂw. -




And where are the pieces of goouas stored?
A. In herear part of the loft.
is to.ard ithe Crosby Street enivrance? A.Towards
bfosby sStrecet-
Do vou know those pisces ol roods nerev?
recegnizce the picece ci peoeds.
Do you romember where tniat piecce ol gor a the morning
of the 20ih of .sugust:.

Wheseahouts?y 3 e $¥e. enu of Tiic loft

tovvacd

side

other, close togetaner.
But are tiey set only ons row of
back to back:

And th casc in o:1 that moming,

now was thot +vue front of thie store,
towvard The store or Towvards Crosby Sireci?
iA. This piecc of goods fmeed the elevator, i2ced the

aisle, we¢ have two aisles.

i Did this case of goods face Crosby Street?

o P

A. It faced Bleccker Street.
e 17

| et




Now from your aeskthere coula you seco
picce of goods was®? A. HNo sir,

were at your desk you say at & qgquarter

A quarteyr To one

after yocu had yeur lunchcon,

Jyeu not,

TO Onz you woere

tnie defendant

You h=zd a2 conversat ion

Wiat diag The conversation witn Wollney<®
A tir e Livudiiny I £CT on Lhie cloviitor

nd we rode down znd started; som2bod,. yelled. iun toward

and Mr. louakay ron tewroeds

Bleccker

Strect. suw tihie wogson.

The Court: You tell what you saw.

By I-r VWeoekes Q- You ran toward 3leeiicer 3tircet esndg you saw wiiate

A. Mr.Iuamkay said to me, "the wagon is turned" ——o——

You went down Crcsby and went toward Dleccler Street?

A. Toward Bleccker. |

corner of Ileecker what did you sec?

e

And when you got near the

Y i dhai s To o SOOI
I
b




st kTSNS

A. I did not sen

Did you sece Maplan's express

Yhen dia you see it

tention teo it.

Wie rrco
¥iiat thienas
Did you overtaie

Yiereabou tse

berss's piac

Tiien

T
mz2iney

Did the

Dig to stop?

wWe mor thicre.

ersation

you do®?

on the wa:;son and

Secarchizd zhie wagon®

And did you {"ing anytiine therea

the bapg which appeared to me

Q-  Did you look in tize ba:-;?

Q - Vhat dia you find in the bagy

By th'é court. Q. That piecec

By L{r \'Ieekes Qe
lx
” AeYes sir.

anything.

wagon?

wxr
L4

that is heres

SHe o sir.

terr Lir.In oy drew my at-

I saw the

sir,

i2wburger & Rosen-~

-

ke:r and Wes-z Srad o

sir,

+
Ce

I opened the bag.

A« That piece of &oods.

A-Yes sir.,

And had you ever scen that piece of £oods before?

i)

i
|
-




Where? A. In our loft.

e TR e o

e time you found it tnere in t::e¢ wagon it was in

<he condition it is now, was i1t ; Tes sir.

this eyelet leflt in ihe vliece orf was 1te

And after yow J:r1icihy you

recognize s o tiien dov

waen Jow

yow exMIuninod

Did you ot thene.

Subsecgquently . and

o clotil thierc at

tne staztion aouse?

At *thne time yoca daiscovercd

did you nave conversation anyone?
Wity whom? Se ¥Witn tihie sone.

And di:i you any conversatic: wiily anyonc else

wagon? Ae Withh thhe boy.

with <he other boy that was SLe Yes sir.

And how many boys were thiere on wason when you got there

A. There wos the son, anotihicr boy and another youngs mitil.

.Altogot’ner turce boys? A. Three bvoys.

" Did you have oo separatce conversation withh each of. thewn?
Only witn two of them.

20




A. In our loft.
time you found it tiere in t.c wa son it

3 o

is now, was ite

avaited t.ae return of Il Inunizay .
rtlye
& nolice an.

I wrzllkecd ol

for 'r.Naplan_

5y the court, A, Was Lumkzy with ou vnen you examined the

e VO sir.

Zyllir. Uzeokes e Ly iunhizy .5 hwere waen you oxoasis cd

o
2id you o hoéuse? A. Mot thene.

find this picece o ecloti tixere at
<- ¥Yes sir,
ti1is picce of cloti; in the bagp

witihh anyone? A-Yes sir

P~

did you hove any, conversation

With wiiom®? A- With the son.

And dii you have any wit:: anyone else
Yragon?

VWith ithe othoer boy ; ; A ¥es sir.

And ow many boys were thicre on the wagon when you got there

A. There was the Son, =2nothcr boy and cnother young mm

3 Altogetiier tiirec boys? A. Threc boyse.

i Did you have =a Separate conversation with ezch of the:n?

A. Only with two of them.

|
(I =




T e e =t

Mr. Weeks: I offer +this piece of goods in evidence.

Counsecl: I object on tne ground that its identity has
properly cstablished.

The Court: I will give you the opportunity to cxaninc

upon thnat point ---- thie offer is ina
CRO3ES EMAMINED.
Counscl. Q. You werec a2 witness
note He Y
Q- A trial in which thwe
Q- Do you remember o:r swear apon tiunc last
there were but two boys upon wogson winen Yy ou
search"
Objecta2d to.
thhe Court. Q. Do ycu knoew = : 'O
two? X I rcmeombaor
By Counsel. b : 2 4 ” Thirce
Q. You niave knowvm 3 _ Y a long timev
A A Tew years.
had occasion tc visiz
A. On onec occasion,

1o reo

visited you? A 17

your house, at your doorf¥ llo sir,

front oi : ¥ S OR
my :nowledge.

To specak to you in [ront o your Liouise? Ao

tive

Never,

You have not rcceived little pgifts from time to timev

A. ¥eover.
;» Did you receive any egns?
$

A prescnt to you, given to you?

1
{




Given to you withous compensation? A. I offfered him
pay.

o did noi take thne payy No sir.

low many times have you been i nabit of

from hHiim? A. Three oifored to pay him.
Did you pay himv
Is it not = fnct. Greenthal., 13t { Time wos o

s cus-—
pectod of having stclernr some g . PTron ni cotablisiment?
A. lio sie.
know
Suspicion wau
You tive cue

A. T

-cct contact

That ~ive ihem the eut wWork fcr =ite purpose of itrans-—
porting -l Tailors Lo
Htow loni: ¥y ou becenn in the
work?
During ti time how lo:ng: | : r 1 tihie housev
shioutld judage two
During 3 you nave ween recect and actual

contact delivery of worl: to him?

Ard also in the receipt by you of work which had been made
, by tailors and returned to the housce? sir.

you receive the work that comes back Trom tailors?

et

A. I do not..

[
I




\

That is reccived by Mr-Lwrﬂ:ay, is

Who rcceivaes work

A. Tho

clcecvator

receivers ior

special

-

Vho is tix receiver i:

nave one b t

N
o

receivery

s t33

I

2
3

Ir. Lumka_

During thesce three years

have vou Irequently cecnversed W

Your cstablisimient?

Is a fact tiha

it

talkings abougi

about thate

The elevatior lcads

sir

Yes

that door locked

is open?

thie bar ou¥

tlhe 20th or Aupust wacs
A. Open.

door was open, open
the bar on ite

The employees in the nouse

floor, do they use the ele

23

that corme s

AL

bac!i tailcorse

the table, we
sStablis:ment?
e name of Rote.
2i. No sir.
theat XKapla
< i@ came into

A

FAe

Occasiocnally.

uty to come dirce-s

you

in ti:1¢ suruner
open.
The bar up itie re.

door closcd cor opent

in or out?

A. Certainly.

» the men engagped

vator to go down? A.

n has scrved your hov

have

ise

WO ke

- s
91%

upon the working

i

No sir. ;

|
!




Q- They walk down the stairway, do ithey?
passcnger elevator on he niyoadway side.
Do yow use the passenger clevatos or Ao you wsc the stairwvay
on Crosby Strcet? 3 o N use the passengers ele-
vator, thie cuttecrs use : ? clevasor in tiiec nmorning
and at night ~aey so down
Duringe: th wnci: hour what methiod
A : passengeocr clevaotor.
Do tuney cover go aown thwe
thems
taivway

of two otner

Tlocr describaed
cutting department. not?
several people
e ccause T:
inss t nouse?
How many?
Court. 4. Dur
a yecor.
Q- A re
By Counsecl. Q. o X i the montiy of July
of <l year.
By the Court.
Q- of lact $ the winter of 18900.
By Counsel. Q. You pot on iie wagon & talk with two
boys? A. Yes sir'_
Q- You went and opcned the bag? A. Yes sir,
Q- Did you open any othner bags? A. N sir.

Q- And you went directly to this one bag in which you found

} piece of cloth? A. No sire.
i -

. 2




Q-

Q.

Qe

Q.

\
v

Did you not so testify upon the last triale
Objcected to. Objection sustained
Did you open any oiher bag besides the one in which you

found this picece or clothh as you say, at 211 on that trucke

onc article upon

S werc thoere and what were tiey?
abou v

And were any of tiie
thiem.

WVas there any mamafactured elot:

Lo

Was thi

Did you onren any bars

How dia You, Come tc put your nands upcn a
Picce of cloth? 4. I got on the

2T

several empty bags and of course 1 looked =z T.:1¢ bags,

! several ba 38 but when I reached this bag I felt

passed

Picce 0i goa s

to the boy.

Was Kaplas on
Was he around +he wagon a2t ally

You did not sece Kaplan in tie neighbar hoode

i. Not at that tirme.

What time was it that you # und that picce of clo the

A. I should Judge it may have beon abouz twenty-#five
minutes of two.

Within what period of time did you find that piece of cloth

after yeu = d left your establisiment and went down on tin

R e U




TR

T

e e e
eI

L

elevator? A. Abour five minutes.

How far awvay I'rom your establisument did you [ind this piece
ol clothy A- Three blocks.

Across Sroadvay? A

llear Green Strecet

On tihie cornes of Blecckers

o 1%4
Iy

Did the peoplic on

wagon away wnon i corme upy

{fore w- rozx
Anad ihwev stood at the cornore, Jou came therc wvien ¢
24 standstilie A. M L the cornecr, in

center of tre bloek.
When was it Hr.Haplan

Ae I thinl:

Yyour moiiher was you de-

JCu et Crriss

iree times

Jou cacin time offer to pay him¢ A. I diq.
did noz completely answer tlo question ol'lir.Levy as to
why this bag containirys this clcih was the only bag that you

wagon werc 2ll the bass alike

opened, when you went upon tie
t is the quality of the bapg itselfe

that you sgsaw there, itha

A No siy.

What was the differencen 4. You can easily distin-
guish a bag that Was a picce of gocds.in it from a bag that

=6 z




‘has cut work in it.

Do I undersitand ycu to testify becausc the bag

containing this piecce of geods : : ent in arpearance
from the bags containing cut gameents that you weni at once
to this bagy

- Objeccied to as leading.

bags were there with goods in thiam the truck?
A. I should judge about = dozen.

Did you lcok at them all until yocu camie to

A. I locked at about three or four.
Dia .you toucir any of them?
them.
And what was the conelus you toucihied

wirtich was
Objected to.

By the Court. Q-

by« A. Yes sir. I ©

to be su ous.
The Courct: that out.

R+ You can't tell what tiie conclusion of
feeling of your handa was
A That there was a picce of clecihn
Wecks. Q. By a picce of cloth what do you mean?
‘. Objccted to. Objection overruled.

Ae A roll of cloth.

A roil of cloth, that is such as thnis? (Showing clothn. )

A. Such as that.

By the' Court. Q- You opened the bag and what did you find in it?

A. "I found a piece of goods -~ -~ that was tihe piece

o

of goods I found.
' 27




any other goods in the bag but that piece of

v

Were therc

Hoods::
No clothing or anytining in 1it% o sir.

So that the onl,; ihing that that bag contzained was that piccee

of goods? S Yes sir.

The other bags had sometninge in thom? cs sir.

snape ©Or appearance as compared
same o: dil'ferant?
you Tound this picce of goods
nothing clset That is all.

By Counsel. Q. I want you to tecll 2 waet! ias any rpecul-

iarity about tire material cf were made?

A. NOo sir. they were ressmen mighnt

lcdge using

say whetiter

By the Court. Q. Thney arc : : and about thie same

sir,

charactesr ofl goods?

Q. Yhat arc theyy Tney arc madce outr of

'~

Had you misscd thie fj00ds weroerso you foeund titat picee of

gocds in thatr wagony
Q- You say that that picee ol pgeods was 2 picece of goods tuat

was placed in 2 casc upon thiat fourth floor about eight fect
Lromm the elevator? A
Had you secn the: piecc of goods there that dayy

.o Yes sir.

In the morning.

Qs What time was it when you saw ite A
S
Q. ‘jAbout what hour?

A. I should judge zbout ten o'clock.

I
| -
Q.y How are you able to identify that piece of goods there as

et T o b L g e ot e e

i




being the piece of goeds you saw in your Place in the morn-
ing? A. I ca.: remember the occasion very distinctl:f-
Ry what marks do you identify thnis picee of goods, any? .

. 0 sir.

Ho;v ;10 yoeu knew tiie goods were your place?

’ A. I remember this ricce being there.
Do you know tiiose goods« S sir.
fre you azle to tell this icce

O oes

that came from yoar og

is

how do you kuow i do you knmw tle

goods you deal inv o Yes sir,
w oany means oi telling tiis Jiey heosr

“t

bec

“
w

Other houses deal - imilar class of coodsy

A. I cannot say/ wiietihier otiioae or not.

Any marks on it-«
How do you identi 'y measurre tle
3tation liouse I

pricce ot goods;” afuce brought

Waethier it was exactl the same picee of goods

could not say
Wihen I found the teing in the n Houce I secen that

the eyelet was rulled out znd iir.Picard al'tcr arrived with
',‘the ticket, then I certainly scen that it was tlre same piece
fitting in the

gfoi' £oods as was missing from our Place by

Picce of goods;

y
i

l‘[ticket with the eyelet, I knew it was our
}




\
v, \ 3
more over haplan admitted to

ouit the wao-

Stare what ne saide

that piece of £00ds and I will ay

By Counsel. Q- You are also Very anxioy:o

are you not? A.

You have an interest in

house Trom suspicion? A

Or asainst Yourselie

Vere not you under suspicion

I would ave been discuarsodd

Mr.Weeks: NMoes your :lonor pass upon i,

“ounsel: I still object.

feceive those fTocds ag

The Court: I ill

wagon wiiich he Claims weore

ALRON L4 THAY, sworn and

mr.\Weoks. e Where ao You liveo

®Prooklyn.

[

Q. You are in ne employ of Jerkowskice &

I am.

-
AN

Were you on the 20th

WVhat time did yo

Q.
Q.

«
-~

. reac:n tie Tore on

A. One P.::.

k in thaz lofty

I

“Where is Your de:s

Fifth floor about the center o the lo

saving an, orf

Fa Y

me on the vay to

"I tock

ne

nan convieted

Not ar z11.

the employces in the

fone at all.

found

came from

exariinede.

0.1983 Penn Sirecs:,

Ernst?

of Augnist of tnig

L.

L




+hwzlf past one that day?
Where wvere 5 0L s Landani;s & : ! : ~. Abous five

feet 1srom my table.

Were 70U convaersing wit:: anysoneq v. Two or vluwce

feor {rom p.Greensial's desk-
Who wese you talking witn

I believe lir.Plcarsd wWwas present-

ATty your convarsation witih tiig clevatoer

I juwmped o - eclevazor and

to sr.Greentit2l O foXlow e . Soumcbhbody

Lot aown told me

-~ oo
el

corna:r 0i Hroadway I waion oI

Creen Swrcecceth

corsner +weont of liewburger

berys's on Green viest a St-;
I 2 up to tip wagon and addres:

on ihe wagon, nc

e I found
about =0

o

Objected toO-

You had a conversation with nim and lefz Greentv.aal

dian't you? A. I left Grecntiial there.

You left Greenthal on the waygon

—

and you went after an officer)
}




A I went for an officer and I brought the oificer
back with me.
You had the boys on thc wagon arrested and they and the wagon
taukcn_to the Station Houses did.
:'/ou had gone with them to Stz House wiiat did

you do% A I had o ion with Haplan's

SOne.

By the Court., . In the presence of Kan asz Kaplan therce

someiody
corncr of West 3rd

Louse and

1en "did yoiui do before you saw Xanlan R
A. Afrer waiting a2 {ow moments Isaw LMr.Picard,
Greenthal and ¥aplan and the o:ficer
up to tnem end I said to jlaplan,
you iave Zone', or
Did you speak to Kaplda ia F..glisi: or Germans
T:ai Tugglieiag e sa s, VT done aothiag”; T says to
i, M"yes you did, I have g[ot your son in castod,. I have
g0t yous s-n leckrd up"; and he (tiie defendant) salid,
"well, iir.Lemkay. I dona ie"; he id not tell me wiiat ne had
“:"done, but he said, "Lir.Lamkay, I done it, I am willing to pay

!
;ii‘or it, let me off"; thav is =211 I did there.

égThen what happencd, did you g£o to tir Station ilousev

A- I went to the Station House with the balance of

them, I told the Sergeant in the presence ot Kaplan thiat he




‘admitted TO me he stole

© f{o mec that ne Aone it.

he adimitted %O me that

to nim, vagigd you s teal

that piece of goods, 1

L,ook at it

picce of god S; and he

then «urned O me again

for me, fet e ocut

o7
C

P 1

all nat it S

wort

rection of mp.Plcard ‘o

salid ol d azvtend T

T C

Kaplan.

when you nave scen

convevsations.
Q-

Q-

How did you

Did yow ever thhave any

MNever.

nas becn poing on

A. Thnrec Jcars.

ﬁiYou say you ¢©
'lhim but is it not th

'\,
!

house® I

N

not that he

ne 4Aone it

of mny Lrouble,

n."

CROS4 EXAMINED by
annot recall any

e fact that you 1}

+he piece of goods

that piece ot gocds

said,

" }r o0 o
and said. WA, LA
T will
I

Lalie cars

tne

rest

You can recall

sypeak tc him"

gitfiaaliy in

now for uircc

counsec 3.

partim;lar

was 1o,

stole the

TiC sercecant

c nver

1ave visited

s +Lnat e admitted

picece ol goods,

says

o

(rointing to

)

is the

an.,

Sre. .,
what you can

34, I will

niouse DY di-

s DCCAV Se

e

about Tnree

+o him more or less

no recall ang

S .

f. Aluays in English.

nim undcrszand?

years®

sation with

niim at nis

his house oncee.




You have known

time been missing quantitie

this alleged discoverys

You have known also that there

et a mumber

disrected aza

ot

A. NO

You ii1ave known for inst

persons in tne amploy

stelkinge Trom il

Do ywu testiiy wnder oat.:
Y

by your nousc prior 1to

wvas saspected of unaving

A. I am.

Do

you know a

You know +that

And arc

was not

{y>om the

before;

you. I

because he understood

nothing to do witn s

doing some crooked business and

. mo refecrence at 2ll to stealing

Is i+ not a fact in conscquence

for

which

o’ merchandise sometime prior

A

cemployecaes

33 .
L3 B

wWiio

Person

1o

tire nauae of Serom

CE e

O

as to property or goods being stolen,

sow work had for soms

10O

I aid.
theft

not?

charsge of one or more

a1ad been sus pected of

A. 1IO.

had becn discharged

aaat

e

£33 rm?

dao

witna tie cstimony

on you ?

part
wras asked ==e
i am aaswering
dlscharsea
ag-man wirien had
rag man for

disciiarged butir it hasd

from the nouse-
beings directed

+hat inconscquence of

ti1e firm directed that extra vigilance should be nad in

34




eXamining or secing people who entered ‘that

A. I presuame the re vas.

By the Court. Q- Do you know any tiing about

Q. You are foreman of

A. I am.

How many People are undcr youv

and four teimners someiniing oi : k

TfifTtecen men.
How many men are aliogoeitiier in vhas
Twelve or foortcen.
T e Dursuic of

care Lo you

execepivion.

elevator whc

name

How long have Jyou kxnown

employ of the house.

How long

house seve

nany chnances ithat

You do not remember iis name?

only mentioned to me I could tell the
empley of your iiouse nowe
nave ot it, Andrews.

left

 Andrews

|

occurrodnce.

Was it not because e

gocds that Ir

the cutting depariment,

thic employ of the i'irm vihien? A

was gsusi.ected oif

was discharged by your firm?

place?

ite A No sir.,
aren't you?
A Abcou it ten cutiers

ind, abouz fourieen or -

upon the

conversa-—

Li1e ma: whiose degk

S000s.

thie name was

Jgaam

After this

naving stolen tie se

A. No sir, he

(.




A

!
th

{

|
I

l1ef+ the house betmuse he got =2 aif'ferent

gdt more pay-
Is that e only reason?

he never was suspected.

Wasn't he suspected of stcaling

man was always & straight and honest man,
an honest man bV everybody in the house-

=1

di senarged? 3 was now

of 1 own ‘accord.

Do know where ne is employed nowe
You got back o voar work at

the elevator ian came Tomy ou

A, Thercaboutis-

nimself.
Jow fong to your kxnowiedge 2

2 =

yours? 3 Abous thirec

positi on wnere e

{1 only reason,

Ho sir, that

ne was known to be

, he left the hous e

across

elevato r nian

In tnhat time has handled many +iiousand dollars

goods and hie

amounting to many housands ¢l dollarsYy
And he nas delivercd veiiem safely®

safely-.

They wWerc retarm a to you by the tailors?

roceived goods from your firm

a.rs

k]
A- iHc has.

A. Ve got them back

A. They wverce.

o complaint was made of his dishopesty before this occur-
rence? A. Mot beflore thiis occurrence. .

30




SAMUEL PICARD, sworn and ecxamined,

By lir.Wecks- You are a member ol % rm 0of Jerkowskie & Ernscoy

Yes sir.

The othier irca ) M rm are Whot A. lax Errst

andlMorris Schiller.

Do’ yO'_1 seec this pil soods here®
Can you tell me whictiier o~ not it is

£31 rm% Ae Yos sir.

illow do you identify it 3 The goods
personally. Li:cme.

You bocughit all

You identified

halfl poaost L. Lonbary

QdowWIl O:i X clovator atit'iter
sir.

Yhat did you d4do% { went baciz 1o tle picce ggoods

stoek z2nd examined the pisces of goods.

What did you notice there, if anything?

that piece of cloth.

| Did you sce this tag anywnere A. I founda it on
C s .

)

the floor.

!

\hlcreabouts? A. Directly in front of the box that

37




piece of goods w\as in.
Do you know ‘:-.'hcther or not this tag is the tag that was at-
tached to that piece of mgoods on the morning that you saw it
at twelve o'clock? A. Yes sir.

Weeks: I oif'Ffer that tag in evidence.

Ai‘tez' you missed that picce of goeds z2nd fvrund thniie tag lying
on'thc floor wnat 4id you 4do? ; I went out to 1look
ffor Kaplan.

Wherec aid you 3 . corner of licrcor and

Blecchker Stirce

Did ¥y

street until tThwe
oificery regcollcer his
name .,
the Court. ¢ i % ; wagon:.

Haplan

What was = ar : % Se Convers

When youo 1'ounda

I

whn
don' t
“what e,
not stele any goods ' . (5 : ., arxl with
the officer came MAong, . : : : 2 dozen orf
times until ne got over near Liey Streect stati on and
thien when .I.Ix-.Le.mkay accused. aimm of sical ing and told him that

his son was

1
e




wWhere did you mect NMr.Lamliay? iiercer St.

Siati on iouse, =and whienn Lamkay accuscd nim i and told him

e had nis wagon and son at thc tation sas/s, "liet

my boy go, 1 done it, I done it anda I will »pay

Wheat nappencd thene Ve got into the

I identified the piece of ecloth ; Kaplan tip o

sa

nad siolen thwe goods, +told thie Sergeant ne stole it; le

snid nhe would pay for i+. 1o leave him £O- Tnat was 211

+he conversation we

Then was hils station House.

YO 5O 31 Police Court

[CCTIR SUS o R s Poiice Court-

Iioj:per.

cn the wa an, convei-

sation witihh him?

Al
+hese goods.

Say wnat you said thie language 10

A. I says, niceghiing: you have bHea:

Raplan. " Y/elil, he says. vywhiat -ise ol maxing any

trouble upon: it. I will pay you for the picce of goods. "

I said, "no, you wont PaY me ior tihis picce of oods, (o 21
k] ES

have stolen a2 gpreat wmany ol" %+lc s¢ picces. ™

So he says,

vwI will pay you thrce imndred dollars, I will poy Yyou five

mandred dollzars.” I said,




e T —

threce +housand dollars woerin of goods, Kaplan. youi stole them
211. " He sald vno, this is thne only goods I nave sitolexn-
1 said. "you have been stealing goods for cight months. "

Te said, '"no, not so long, only six months- " Then he hegan

amounts from

€ 11 ve imndred dellars

tiniree Lhouisand Gollars worth v 1Tc said.

you thrcc thousand dollars but I will

v ot voy

ewvery week t 11 I
nalil 2
we wirt.

Then when you £O%T +ne Police Cowurt wnat sappened?

Objected to-

And wihnien hic

nation youa 4t ninlt prow

Objceted to-

he court. Q. Diad

A. Yes

' pid you act 2s

Clerk did

And translat cd Yes sir.

on tile &irst day I am talking about now<

the Tirst azv, +thet is right.

Did you explain to him fully <the menaing of the various quesT

13




e e

Objected to.
A- Yes sir.

tne Court Q. Tell wiiain you diad
transliated it to

and the Cl1- rk

Counsel:
and incoznpetent.
subsecqguent to
and another plea
onerxr. I.objcet

Iroceecedincs.

o :
ol tne

The Court: I

translated.
Q- Is that right

Witness: Yes sir.

Q- You say answver

payper?
Ce Did you see him write
Counscl: Will you:r jjonor give us

The Cpu t: Certainly.

Coansel:

about tiiat translation?

him, I

translated the

guestion

translated the gquestion

Yo

trme record

answer in this

Sirxr,

cxXececption?

I would like an additional grounad to be stated, that the

defendant was not fully informed of the nature of the docu-

ment.

ne put to this

e e et

defendant a

R P )
—




certain question and he translated the question into the
German language.
Witness: Yes sir, in Germane.

The Court: I will roceive 2t as going I Lhes that was tre
guesiion pwt to him ai 3 O ] answer made and also
that he saw wne signaceaxe

By Lir.Wecks. Q. You say thiis
German was in Engl:.sh,l, ; Yes sir.

know what + are asking me, donre it., I done it, do with

me wna Judge

Obicetca
carpectent evidence.
o ) ) .
'é-qlfhc Court. ¢- You may = A ; or no whetier guestions

A

Hr.VWVecks. Q- askoed by
san and Wi
Ybjected to.
the Court. Q. Was Judge llogan present when you puv
tion? 3 s sir, I told Judge iiogan
Qe Whenr you werc talkinm to ti:e defendant and wien
+hat was Judge Hogan tiwere thenv A. e was

bench.

By Mr.Wecks. Q - The examination was taken betlore thie Clerk one

'

i side and +then they were taken up belore the Judge?
A. Yes sir.

Yhen they were taken up before the Judge I unders tand Judge

Hogan aslked the defendant some questions? A. es sirxe




Were those questicns styranslated to him or not?
Objected tc on the sround thut ithe reco:d
any transactiornr or procceding

in evidence

compeLen
Objecction overruled.

What conversationl OCCuas ed T

dciendante A. Judge knew

Judge liogan

movr what

T ands eveyy —

c:rurected to

following day were
Did you axnzcnd ihic Poliice
After that day ygou nover
A. lio sir.
Do y ol know wihietiicr or not any of
ficd here teo-day pave any urtaer

Court on the following qday? A. No sir, nonc ol tlem.

And the picece of goods was talen away Loz tle Police Gourt

that afternoon of the 20th and sivenn in your charge by Judge

liogan? A. Yo sir, and I gave a rcccipt for it.
N Mr.Picard, tle rec have becn a considerable number ol insinua-
here, how long has lir.Lamlzay been in the cnpley ol yur
A. About six or scven yearse.
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How long has Greentha been the cmploy of your f£irm@?
Ae. About sevenr o: thiercabouts.
Ilow longs has thhe clevator the ecmploy of your
firme Ae About (ive or months.
When did the lcoss of the property from ycocur il rm begin?

Pebruary I first coods.

clevator

)

he ever becen under suspicion by your firm?

A. No sir.

Lamkzy cver been under suspic your Tirme

sSir.

This clerk lr. Andrcvis

left your cmpley, i

meniths,

Wnen was

¥ ou?

ne exy. e your em-
yOour desir

to. Ob

Yeos sir.

And you offercd i1im zn increase of szlary if he would remainy
A. I offered him five Hundred dollars o year advance
to stay.

Counsiél: You will allow us the benefit ci an exception.

The Court: Certd nly I will.
53

Q. i What is the value of this picce of cloth?

two undred dollars.

Had the defendant Kaplan any right or athority to remove




that piece or cleth from your Premises?

CROSS EXAMINED by Counsel.

Lir.Picara, ness uporn t he

AL

You have some poerconsl 2r2i nst the

To otitlicrsYy

You felt Sor:»ry for hime? Yes sip.

Is your testip in substanee

upron the Yeos sir,

Pax‘ticularly the test imeny nave given

refrard wve avions

Prescnce.
cnt
Are
apon the

o tihe

You say 1at whien you spolke to the deflendant and e said,

I think ti:.¢c words that you used were., "I dcecne it", he was very

I

Mich agitated was ne

Frighteoned? O sir.
A

Cool 2nd calim- Ae Ceol and calm.

Indirterent.

Indif'rerent? A

Did not care ait al1l? A Did not care,.

fle did speak about nis son¢? e NO

Dia you sreak about the son? Yes sir, I daid.

You told him his 30n was arrested? Yes sir,
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et mY

Q Did nov he

Poli

Dcnicd-it

Q-

thre

ar T <3

And he W&

A

son &O-

e times-

I 4aone it -

vt he aid +thnis

aeny Lt

ce statl on?

sev cral T imes®

very 21lm when ne aenicd j¢, W&S e
ves sir, calm when ne daenicd it-
wi aid not 4o wmy-‘r,hing;? u

Yy ourT

az 211 agit:‘.tcd?
Did he shiow Nno fecling -1 ne was ar-
rest.cd antil —heC 4 ime oot vo the 1)olicc s‘:.::.tﬁ.on?
A. 1fonc at all, ne vas verd calme.
Talked in a low rone of voice® N- Talked very 10

fLance than I am talking vO

4+ 0 you 10W

cr for ins
r than Lthat-

Did he talk
X Yc.s,

A. Nov any 0%
jus?t

ordinary conv ersat jon?
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the way yocu arc talking.

You replied to him in Engslishh and ae spoke to youx

A. Yes

The peliceran alonsside ot you¥

alongsiae A. Alongside of him, he

center.

tr.Grecntina d4id nov

he did.

ir.Lamay o into i
Yes sir, {rom

ang Greentaal §$O

Yo surre abous

+lpr ro an interprescer Police Court.on iie

were there. ilo sir.

interpreter tiere and you were the complainant

as interpreter Tor titis man, Qid youw
i

in thie Policec Couri, no sir.

You told tilese gentlemen that you acted 2s interpreter, where

did you act as intc rpreter. he AT the Jeiferson

Market Court.
That is a Prclice Court? e Ve were at two Police

Courts, I am talking abouat the Police Court in the lL:crccr St-

47




station, that is +he way I anderstand Y o.

Whnere 4did you act as intcepreterxy A. AT thc Police

fourt, Jefferson itlarket-

You sa,s yow vere the e thav translated Thic contentrs of tre
Aocument? A. The clerk cranslated asxd al’ter tiw

I traasliated-
The police Conrt?

Arc yJow preina red

Yes noet know is Germunan I
belicve, Le an Amcrisan bo::nn boy bat ne taoalks pretiy

gooud Germnai-

'y you know thazt
know wWhat nhe is.
Don't yowo kinow inatv
ile workea for you Tl
for

e thiree years.

Don't yo.t Knew

Georman-

Lalkxed To hlm in dermaant

£fe01n Yy our cmploy-

ooy es
Wil

conncctod

Ae. Not tnat I knovw <1, divcharpseda beeause I

with the firm.
Youw arc one of" the rccent -additieons to +ne Tirm? A.Ycs sir.
In any *rans

action except this one wnicih

ne is untfortunately
charged with you have always known nim {(the defecndant) to

48




rerform his duties

nas received property
. and
retuarned

Soods

any question

WS

nroperly,
ol great
i1as delivered it

worthh many thouasa:nd

have youw not? A. Yes

value Irom your firm,

nonestly and af'ely and he

dellars to your nouse, has

Digm yeemy -
S oIan

ffoods occucsred?

About two ycars

PR

same

s piece of goods

You had a

gocd many sSords

Civ Lic T h e

et ticket for

ng

went to lunch, and wi

ran back to the

of those picces and that

By Counsel. Q. You !ave larsce

loft, you had on tuat day,

Imandred pieces of goodsey
They are piled in various
boxes.

A. All in

was

icce gocds <

otner

tile stock rcom and you Tound

missing?

i there was only four

enartn.ent

ticker on the fMoor.

[

260t of Ausust,

»He Yos sir,

piles all over tlic loft?

id you searchn any particular box when you ran over to see

49




whiich psoods were missinge . : s, not to
this onre se walked up and down the Piece goous depart-

to the box that I kneow whe fOods wvere miss—

You looked in abox and you determined =z picce missing?
A. I saw four picces and I knew *hare
been Tive; they lay flaz; thre box stands outr likes
tihiec soods scoand wPe
Twe box 2a e piled on tiie top of eacit o viies ?
JFOw dr noi nava o 1life
head oi the box.

Two e r f21rsm who occupy Two leoThs

in whicih your fiprn ig

o youre

Ly yousr
clevator thiat rans :i'ro::

Ws e by your Lfirm<e A-Yes sir.

Do you recollect wiict tre door lemaings fron tiie clevator

to your cuatting room waus onen on that day not?

A. It was open.
It is usual in the sicamer tc lecave tihe door of the haze hway
open, iy it¢ A. Yes sir.
Is thore any partition or door separating tiic floors in tie
. stairway? A. Yes sire.
Those doors open casily and were noti locked on that day,
were they? A. No sir.
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Tuesday, Oczober 20, 1391.
JOSEPII FE. GREENTHAL recalled by Counsel.
You remember when you testificd yosterday veu stated that
you-Tound o wagon belonging: to Kaplan on Bleccker Strecet
betwecn Moercer and Green, is that corrcecty A. Mo sir.
Where did you f£inad : : I found tix wagon
on Green Sircet
You said then. I unde:rsiood 7 O3 . 1 Tnlere wore
boys upon tha=z waron at the : A A There
three on tiie wagon .
I nav vecalled you Hor thie purpose
1" Ly are in Jhe cour—-room,

A. Yeos sip.

he Courit. Q. Point ihicm ou <

tiien tnat felloir tiiere. hiis Pete, I reccllec: h:@?ﬁ\$
3

were on tine wvagon, and ithere is a

Counsel.

HE'RY E. HOPPER. sworn

By ir.Weecks. Q. You arc an off'icer of the

Q-

O,

¢
4

attaciiecd to the street cleaning; departrient,

A. Yes sir.
Do you remember tle 20th ol August, 1591°% A. Yes sir.
You are the officer who srought te tie NMerceor Sireet stati on
house tie wagon contaianing tiiec roll ol 2lotis on wuaicha wvason
were +tlhie thrge Loys who uwave stood up in Court, or two of

them? Al es s8ir, two of them, them two..Tirss

ones stood up there. Kaplan's son and =has stout, tall one.




How long afvexsr you g0t to 243 on llouwse did the defendant

' Kaplan comc in? A. I should judge about fifteen

minutes when he was brougcht in by =znother officer.

Tell us what happened after Kaplan was brousht into the ta-

tion House, WwWnav you heard? A. Simon Haplan,

he asked S son

nere. I sd a. "yes, we have gov

your son in custody in the baclt room." wish you

woula let hiim gso for he nas noti:ing to do with ‘casec at
211, I took e roll o1 cloin nyself,

is business

that was th

Dida nec say

I coulde.

A. I Tnen sz2id. "you siTate
ciotnT ™ e says.

Maplan., thar is the son

ne claims
Tihio
as

clothe. 1alliy he let ithe boy go & 1t his::

aLout
the 1 s wazgon but we Took Tne cloitn off, I had

Station ilouse, E i wr of the bag.

same roll oi cloih

sir, recinct;

I toox the cloth outr of g ag; to several

employeces of the f£irm of Jerkowskic whicnh they iden-
tif'ied as the piece thim had been stolen. 30 then we

;proceedcd over to the Court accompaniecd by tir.Picard.
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That is, the defendant Kaplan in yrur castody and Lir.Picard
went over to thie Courty A. The three of us to-
sether.
On the way to Court what conversation if any daid you:ninear
between Picard and Kaplan if it was in Englisn or any convern
sation that you nad with Kaplanv Of couxr sc I
did not say anything much to him eonly I asked hin
got thiis cloth and he would not arswer me.
questioned § TG ne nad beonn doirng; witih: the rest of
thie cloth tic 2 =] ! ight along previously. Well,
he says, LG . I : yoa. I a2u
th s iness b i aollars a weeok, I do ncz
»
prosecute G MLr.Picard says.
ness, you rave been roubings mo
strairnht i ; now hio soay s,
its : Of course he
O nroscceuic him. "

£

proscecute i amount, up-.
Mr.W-eks. . he mention arspecific zmount e was wil8-

ing to pay? A. IFifty dollars up.
Q- Do you remember any particulzar sum® A. Pifty dollars

a weeck. e czune down as low as that.
the Court. Q- say hormach ne was 1y »pay?

A He said he was going to pay i 1izd taken,
: he acknowledged that he had taken every picce.

Mr.Wecks. Q. Try and use the language that Kaplan used anmd tle

language that Picard used? A. They gspoke plain

i Fnglish, iir.-Raplan acknowledged the guilt of taking —--— —-

|
|
|




In what words, what wa'ds did he usc in acknowledging his
suilte id, "lliR. Picard, I have taken this
clotir 21l right s 2 ige for the pést six months butil
Mty dollars 2 week until

ite éid net do pusiness in that
way, : £ LIy 1law would vake its course, and then when
hg got over to Court I teok nim up before Li:.Ormsby. one of
the clerks.

{r.Weeks, Q. Tiic stenograpiec r? L. And
vit made out 2nd I told Lir.Ormsby that Nis s B a Germm
te et an interpreter and siat 0 him whatv ! was
red with,
Q- Wiiere was Kaplan then, close
rigit wup close o tir desX.

How ncar to you? 2 Y e boiil sid

Ormsby sayvs

Ormsby says. a nebresr

"yes." lHe says, *do you know wheat Y Ow

(the defendant) said yes. "Do you know whiat ycocu are clhiarged

withev And with tiimt e spoke to lLir.Rosenthal, that

other clerk. the Gerinan clerk there in tixe Court, and brougilt.
nim up-.

Who brought him up? A. Ormsby. and he says, "I
wish you would speak to ithnis man Kaplan and see 1if e knows

wnat he is pleading guilty to." So he d4diad; ne stTatved what he

S4




was charged with and e told Ormsby that he wanted to settle
with Picard and pay fTor the goods right here. iire Ormsby
said, "you are not brought here Jcr»r that business. v

Did hiec say +tha in nglish? A. Yes, everyithing in

Inglish. I did no underszand 2 word of CGerman. So thenr af-

Ter "Lhc affidavit was made out I brought nim up before Judge
Hogan and tnne judge told him to step up clouse 1o tihe deosk
right 3 iite says, “lir.llapian, do you know wnat you
are c’ 2 o A F oo i says,
"yes, { ! I : : . "you
can't settle ti i . tiiis is Court to do
any business like ; ill n:ave to. rlace you undcr itwo
taousand dollary ha v ; so inally tiien ne was
locked up-
the one tha<
iaving i i i Hebrew to

Ormsby call2u. iis

CROSS EXALIIIIED.
By Counsel. Q. Gffice:r, you 2 71 werrec youa not, on tre
trialy
And I presiyne you are
A. Hind of, I
back.
You hawve (ot 2 vivid recolloction
in the Court-room, !:ave you¥
This exauaination ol yours upon the 1 ; il recent
than the examination which took place in the Policece Court,
wasn't it A. Not as I know ol,
You mean to say that your exmminazion 2s a

55
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case was taken before the dei‘endant was talken to tire

Police
Court, is that so®9 A. I do not know.

Were yocu coxamincd as a witness on the Tirst trial of

fendant before ne went +o thhe Police Court or alter?

*
As After

So that ne examination cn your pari as a i the lasz
trial took plzce long after tile coxamin:s
E3

Court, didmn’i 2

Is your rceccollceirion wi<iy rerard
case wne:re you vivid

Police Court

=+

recollection oi wiat took

whirel: do you vnag

to upon the iust tiris : d wwhat

tire Police Coursz:. aeraber

wil

wvery well., what tool: »lacoe 21lso

at thie last t:-ial.

Do you remembe:r whet

intcrpreter:s

Did you testify aboutr the erc.nve rsation that was had with

Rosenthal, tiie clerk oif the Couzrrty Ao I did not sgy

. okou
nowvning mwo Nosenthal. .

Did you testif'y abouir the conversation that was had with

Rosentinal, thie clerk of tle Court? A I did not

say nothing about ilosenthal.

By ihat you mean upon the last trial you said nothing at all

"in ycur testimony about thie conversation withh Rosenthal?

A. Ho sir, I did not.

P A

f




Q. Has an, circumstance arisen since the last trizl)l whieh has
refreshed or revived yocur recollocecition as to that clirecuwn-—
s tance?

Vhat circumsitance nas

Oofficer, yo.u say 1 S s 3 : i g g Yes s

You are quite sur 3 : carmot
uandersiand onc g ol Gerrman.
I am quite sure you do not undersTand e
that ithie man spcaks?
Objectecd tT0O-. Objiection

A. I did noir undersitand wih
You. have s Tl Tl sentl emen
Ydon't you nroscceus a , are you

L.

Off'icer, Tl
12avines:

I aiaq.

laonscuarse
in Geormnane.
4 tne defenilant reply
glishe A. Inn Ge:rman.
Did ir.BPrmsby speak o thie defenddant i@
than tiie FEgglishe
Did ll:*.Picard speak to the deilen
than the Fnglosh during all hic time that Y nim«
A. Ile spoke a2 litile Germz: to nim.
You say that you were the one that tcok the wagon to
‘Police Stati on? A. Yes sir.
Did you make the arcest before you took thie wagon to

57




Qe

Q-

police station®? i

Who:. did you arrest before y ou

statiop? A

“sSon.

That is tne boy you -

A. I Dbelieve

Did you arrest that

Yes sir.

N

When you a:rrested the boy wher

what place< Aa. In

That S Detwee:n Blecciier and W

[L-
the

Was e on

upstairs in the bhuilding.

ursi2irse

Who was

A boy was no-z

vwason.

wa2s up
rake the

Were the e woson

reste

Iinovw.
There were not thirec boys on
only two that I could see, tha

stout boy Pete,

‘You say thae boy was upstairs

58

Yes made the arreste.

sir, I
tock the wagon to the police
HKaplan, tle
To young Haulan)®
son.
I put to

qQuestion you?

at

.l ey '-e

o oiid mal: Tiic arrest,

iront iIfo. 200 cen Strcet.

est Srd St:rcez, T

young Haplan, The son.

T was one boy on

it.
LDuildi ng.

-
arrresy.

a~

noan?

t y 3 sonn and the

these two I took to the Sevation House.

A. Yes sixr,




VWere you requesited it make +the arrsest ol young Kaplan by

anyocnc on ohie sidewalk while the bo,

A. T waited until young Haple down at Greenthals

request, he told me th=ae he
I waicd unt
Ob

Officer, the A. Mo, e made

né roesisuvancee.

i wend Wiiit sfu O tle Statian Housc an you drew tin wagsorn
up vhere? Ae YYo= sz,

Did wvne o hoys o with ; : Hoeusc?

worne wisih opliam son anu I

¢reve tc the

He 0o sir.
e I couwlid
nowv simply breought i ir

and turned hiim ove:r TC me; : < re if I wanted any

[ foleRade]

search and I told him no.

Did you request that ofiic tal thie arrest oif the de

[

fendant? A novtv.
You said A rect ': in reply to gquestlions
ir.Weeks +that the defendant 11is boy was
+aliing care ol hisa xXpress rceute, did a2y that?

A. Yes sir, } i aking T it.
You say iic spoke in Fnglishy I wani nhiis langsuage?

4. The boy wus taking carc of it.
Did e say in English, "my boy is taking care ol the express
route® " ~e :ie told ne on the soute, Suing on

gserving it.




ne spezl to the Loy in Englis: or in German?
A. I 4aia not notice what languagse.
Bytne Coux_'t. Q. How ac youx kKnow
wenwt ‘ofi‘.
Did yo. car nim SRR 59 3 ne told him
English, Yoo on by . wnat I ncard
S2Y.
By Counsel. Q. Ofrficer, you nave boan on the patrol
pizce of business of Jorkowski & FBrnst?
was in thab precinct.
Qe You kaow Ll
£3il1l +thi
YTou know employ hat place?
soc:; nonc cit Them, never
:th : . 2 n thot preeinect,
Grecen
you know wihicre
o0 Droadway .
[0 DA

arr-est wWos

tance X r1 thie entrance in Cros
aboui two and 2l 1t blceceks.

lir.Weeks: That is the casc for whe People.

The Casa fox the Decfience.
Counsel: I move +that you advise the Jury to acqui. on ulhe s round

+hat the People have failed .o mzkec ouz +heir action as

stated in the indiciImentve.

The Cd_;.rt.: Moiwion denied.
\\

'l,
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Counsel: Your Honor will allow w§ the benefi: of an exception.

Counsel fcr he Defence opencda wThie case toe thie Jury.

FRIEDERICK W. YAHN sworn and examincd.

By Counscl- Q. Mr. I.ahn,

deale:

Where yYyour nplace oi
Ho.358 Grand Street.
been in business iLir.:lalhin%

Twento—-six oy

sir.

Do you knew itne defendant S Yes

Ifow long have you knoewns 2ime e tnowrn hiim

about six years or 2 litnle
Do you Kknowr T.2r recomwle who i we suplresey

A. Yes

isenc ~2l1 ci:ar-—

What is hiis reputation and A His repuza-

tion always was ve:s, Good.
An honecst man% sood nonorable
man.
traoightforwa»d in i : fansactionsy
A. Yes sir.
In fact you have trusted hin various monies?
A. Yes sir.

He has always been iionest Jou in his transactions¥

A. lle has.




CROSS EXANMINED by Mr.Weeks.

Q.. How intimabe have been your relations with him, ilr.llahn?
A. If I can stacee it he lived in Brownsville, I recnt
a great many machilnes over there, he usecd to come and get

them, he used to bring me tihie money for them. in fact he was

the only man we had about the premises thot nud

tihhe Ireedom

of” tiie shop, we did noi allow any strangers To comne.

e served as expressman for Yycocu?

it f'or those people, I uid not

in Fnglish as

iTeverse

understand

ffact my convers

Ml because {hc languaage
s I cculd probaibl

ap; the langunge 3 Iz partly German and
rartly Polisin and
Court. Q. VWhaoat is
ussian Polé.

Counsa2l. Q. He is 2 Russian from the section o country called
Lithania®? A. Yoo sir, 2 Rus Q.

tir.Wecks. Q. llow long have you been doing business with him®?

A. Well ithis business dircctly probably tiwee or {oar

yvears; before that he was with some manufacturer of the

same name I think it is, I don't know whether he is any

relation to him or not, and he was the man that continually
|
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got things for the othe r part,;, who ran an account.
knowr W{im for six years in a business way?
Yes sir, it migit be a trifle more, I do not know
exactly-
You saw during that time you never carricd on any business

conversation wiihh him in English? A. Mo sizr, never.

JOSEP:i LIORRIS, 2n:i examined.
By Counscl. Q. Wnat is your business,
tate.
The ovner oi rezal estate in the cizy ol

in Brocklyn.

A-¥Ycs sir.

Youo o mnoewn 3 § 11l since the

Sa

rnoncst

straightformvard in i bus iness transac-

CROSS RXAMIUED by, lir.Weeks.
liow many business transactions hwave you had
Morris®? A. Mone a2t zl1i.

Andbyet you have just testified you have Tfound him honest

in his bugsiness transactions? A. Yes gir.
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You never had any with him?
You were not connected with hip in
A. I krnow he is an honest man.
How do you know iit, yow never hniave had any dealings
him? A. I never nad ; dealings. I near
lives ¥ - town an 3 an nonest
you i : thiat
my trade.
dec yocu condQuct i Srownsville?
1c owner oui properiy,
is my terade.
Did you ever kecp 2 saloon?
Do you kee
conaucted
esia e business, w2 s i ol thc sa-
locn business
It is net a ispgraceffluil businessYy
How mzny peoplc have you ipard discuss Kaplap's

talk about nis ¢ % 1 tnow other pco-

an honest man

FPrequently? . 58 s an hionest mane.

His character then has boeen talked about a sood deal over
there<s Talked that he was an honest man, that
is what I alwvays heard. never heard anyihing wrong of Kaplan.
Do you know Kaplan? A. Yes sir.

How well do you know him®? I know him because he

passes through always with an express wagon.

Did you ever specak to him? A. Sometimes I speak




Q-

Q.

to himm certainly.

What did you gay to him

A. I might

"Did you have any

A. No sir, gocd moraing,

Did you ew r say good evening:

A Yes I did.

sir,

Did you cwver z2sk hi:.

cause I had no time to

Did you aslk hi:mg

cwvoer

A. llo.

atremnted

And when you

Kaplan's

you had with nim, did mean

you

A I mmean that e is an

tovmn.

All you know pcopl

character is, you heard them

A. AN honest man, that

Where were you born?

oy o
[LE par

How far I1from whe :c Kamnlan

you.
How lons Aave you been in this
. this céuntry twenty-two yecars.
:Hovr lcng; were you in this coun

i glishe A.

!
E
i

when yocu
say good merning.

othner conversat

wilen

about buuinessy

noneswt

say

I cannot rcricmber that, I

met him in the morning?

and le would say thie same.

on withh him?

that is all.

he

e
about Lusiness.

nroporty?

cvening?

lorne d

Jour

by tne busine

by £ 1
Lt alan  t

Oz

nown in

man,

abcut his

Ttalking

2 hmave beoen ngs

is an honest man?
is

Poland.
not tecll

born. A.I could

countrys

try before you could speak En-

was first in




England'and when I came over I used to speak a little English

2lready.

becn tlr re

2

ilowv long were you in Englande ] have
Ssix years.
Then after you were six years in Ingland you could speak ithe

Emglisi: lansuage? Ae Yes sir,

ABRAHAM NEWMAII. sw orn and cxamined.

By Counsel. Q. Wnai is your business?

snoe busi ness.

Whnere is your siioe business o3 tuated,;

wvard of Brooklyn.

Do you knovwr Hanlan? I 'now nim.
Hiow lon;: yocu known ; About four or
nearly

v
- Pa

clhwaracter?

What i
wvas living once house. weo weore good friends.
was all right, an honest man.
Q. A straightforward mane M. Siraightiorvard.
You never ncard of higs having done aryzwning v ng befar e

this +ime? A. Nlo, I never heard.

CRCSS EXALINED by iir Weceks.

Q- Then I suppose you & not consider that he is guilty of this

‘charge? A. I think not, I could not tell because

jhe was always right before, I do not know.
| X
!

{
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You say you do rnot

I could nozu

l.'x .

Where were you born?

belongs to Germany but

ilovw fLar

that plzace at

you becn

nine ycars.

YWow long were yoau in Tinis

Friglish so ihiat you e aald

.0t

well

o
2 &S

or three yecars,

Weeks, WVhat was yoar

Q-

S IIVIous WNeVWenudrle

comne overs

is

you inty

Have you eve:

A. Thigs
lave yeuu ever
wae accused of crime?

Objccted to.

the Court. Q. iiow often

car A, I

time every day.

JACOB KAPLAN,

Q.-

By Cd_unse 1.

A. Yes sirx.
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think he is guilty.

tell,

understand

as you

fatner's

nave you

secn him s

You are the:.son of Simon Kaplan,

is

I de not think is gHuilty.

A. I =2un Lo inCtooland,

speak Germaan.

rlan was born? fHAe. I never

countyryy

Lefore you could speak

countTry
make yoursel! undersiood?
everytliilas oV,
can mow?

naune

To withh you?

not here-

s:n0e business,

court,

tho

To-day in anybody who

Objcection sustaincd.

seen Haplan within the last

metimes cve:sr, bweeck and some-—

sworn and examined.

the defendant?




How ola are you, Jacob? A. Scventeen.

You live with your father and mother in Brownsville?

s sir.

The Court.: Wihicre is Irownsville®

5. . .

Counsel: It is in he 20t Vard ol

Q You assist your father in hiis
press business, you helypr your
And helped hnimm o:: the day

augus vy
Do you left your

nouse on

ilalf pz=ust soven we

do every

That mornir

ing, nalf past seven.
Qe Who left

By +tne Court.

lecave your place?

Q. You drove over to thue
Q. Where did you drive tov iee OnNn my

Q.- Tid you have a load when Yyoua lcoft your place?

Q- A load of mmanufactuared clothing <
Q- To be delivered to Aifierenz housese

Q- Wnat time was it tnat you arrived wiihh your

88
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Hew Yorke ] as tvelve o'clocek.
your Tatiier come over with you ai that timew
A. Yes sir.
he on Towhen you came overc
Yyo.i also? Yes
the re. -' <0 sir,
wzgon too, does he A. Vinen he
no worlk i on tix wacon.
You know of ceurse where Jerkowskis o Ernst's place o1 bus i~
ness A. Yes sir.

You know 4 thieix place in Crosby

tliat entrance on +the morning
d¢ you understand
Yo yoks Ifaither
with sour wago
drrove pasc, - aid not

Did you stop therev:
Diad your fatior
e jurmped o
Whnere adaia
Did he go 13%e or up the clevator?
know, .3 there and I drove of'f.
Where did you drive to¥% A. I drove to L.L.iewburger

first.

Wihiere is it? A. Corner orf iierccor armd Ele clior 3tse.

Did your fatner come w] to that cosner after” A.lvo sir.
Did you drive to any Place on Green 3Strcet? o sir.
On Mercor Street in the middie of the block? A Yes sir.
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- Rosenburg, wihat is the name oi thoat Newburger
£

& Rosenberg.
Did you drive you. wagorn

A Yes sir.

A. Greern: Sircet.

Where is their placee
1

Wiere did you drive to< A. Isadore ilaufinan, lLierecor

block between Vest 3rd and

About twenty

minutes or so.

Did your fatihicr come upr to you

lace Tnc came to you.

Jesrkowsicios You wunderstand tiiazx

ne went up

t ime you

A Ilo sir,

S were:rn't you?

You were arrested in Green Street,

A. Yes sir.
t.?

You left Haufman's 4in tiercer and drove around to Green St.

A. Yes sir.
Q. You stood your wagon in {ront of whnose place?
A. Newburgexr & Rosenbdorg.

Q. They are on Green Street?
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Between wnat sirecets is 2 A. Letwcen

Bleecker and WVesit 3rd Strcet.

It was tihere that you vwere

Jacob, voul weni upsiairs o HNewburger & Rosenburs'

A. Yes sir,

To deliver work or 1o receive worlk? - I ueclisrerea
work asxl received work Laclk again.

You deliwvercd as well as received worke

VWiien you ;o7 down stairs were , ou arrescveus

Whom did in frons oi

roliceman
"do you know sure this
He{the
policeman
And they took Yes sir,
Jacob, the:r found upon tint
wason?t
Do ,ou know your own hnwoledge, now
what has been to 3 Ae No sir
Was znything said to you by i~ddy, tine boy, when you got down
about the piece of cloth?
Objected to.

!&o
Q- When you left Isadore Kauiman's did You seoc your Ifather

here in lLlercer Strecet? A. Yeos sir.

Q- | And where did he go? A. Upstairs,

Upstairs to tie placee A. Yes sir.

.

Q-




thiere or did he go dow: with yoor wo Green
stopped thore.
ffor thie purposc ol getiing work:
and delivering work.
Q. When did you see hihitafiter thiat toolk place, a2t oy left
the Urecn St ~ ~e I did 3 im at all

irst 't I3%a R aw liam afLer Liiae

CROSS EXALILNED.
Weeks. Q. On tir way Trom Jerkowskie
burger's you drove, did you:
And who was on e wagorn: witn you thenf?
Yihicre was Petev ; e wWas onr
movins tomaick.
What do youx mean- DY tne mowving
two t:oucks.,
Were not thecy =zogethier
Was not Peitec on your wagon 11 L odays
Do youu mean to say tha- : IFa ¥ T 1 LIe CoXpress wagon on
whici: you and Bddy we:ec
that is what I sazd.
Was he standing 3 ir.

Not at any time day« .0 sir.

Do you rcmember X i oir not you testified in that way on

the other trial? A Yes sir.

Q- You testified that. did youv A- Yes sir.

¥ . . . . .
Nn. How long Aid you wit at -L.Newburger'sy S We did

“
ot wait at all, we delivered work and drove off apain.

- long did you wait there? A. About five minutes.




You stopped in_frént of the store and went upstairs?
L. Yes sir.
Who did you leave on the wagon? A. Eddy.
Winen you camc down did you bring down any bundles?
A. No sir, I had no time.
Youu got onn the w
Were the:re any bund rnens A. Yes sir.
Hovwr many? : ; s bundles on, I
could not count them. about A ‘ wraeviiingg like that.
Wiiere had you réceived them: 1 uad not reccived
them, we werz 10 deliver them.
Where were you to deliver theme Se ALY around.
Sykes, Hauiman. two bundles was noi delivered vet. lewburger
& Rosenberg thres bundles.
What other bundles i1ave you to delive:r
A. Fetheimer four bundlies.
Anybody elses ' Li.8Samprtecr, two

a ; ‘ bt tiiei:. oy you went to

delivered
now could I deliver thicn
Then you went to KeufToman's mnid you took some und
you? A. INo sir
What did yoa do when you got to Maufiaan'se A. I wait-
ed there.
For whom? . A. Por my Latiarer to come.
Did your father tell you he would meet ¥ow at Kaufman's?
A. No.
i Why did you think he would mect you at Haufman's?

i

A. I could not get along mysell I had so muech work to do.

1
i
i
i

!
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Did you carry the dDundles up to Kauiman's? A. I had two,

no sir; Fady coualdl no: watch tiie wagon and stuifl a2ll alone.

Wno did you leave in chawsge ol 'ront ot D.L.

New urges ' sy fie There i many pcople aroud

I lefit Eddy there and I 2 boy to help watch

stands at D.L.Newburner's, a smzall boy z2lways

. .- IS t L
ni of Hauwiimoa: s

You wcaid not truast Edd the wxymon in front
240

A. I coald not

Do youa mean

Itecclizr and lLlercere

s0 many people
around there,
How leong iid

for your iati:cor Haulman''se

A. 1 Lsou now long-
Sy +the Court- @ - you can give abous i{, about

—— %

how long. itwoe nours or iten minutesy A No,

about
twenty minues,
By lir.Weeks. Q- You twenty minuzes for your fa-

ther?
did noct
two bundlc s

mz2ny bundle s you delivered to 3.1 llewburgery

A. JFourtecen bunales.
You delivered tnosc all alone? A- Yes sir.

You havetestilfiecd tinzt Eddy made some statement to you aboal

a piece of clothv Ae. Yes sir.

. When was it that BEddy told you anything about this piece of
“ cloth? A. When I came down from Hewburger & Rosens
i

“ . 'n“
i%berg's. .. .
5 U -




And not before? A. HNo sir,

Whern you came down {Trom NMewburger & Rosecnberg's you Tound MNr.
[ S-] 1

Lamkay standing there by the wagon witih a police officer, aid

you? A. Yes sir .

Of{ficer Hoppere A. I do not know what

The olTicer that is nere in Ccourty
TMhere was Greentnal?

wa;0n.

ne nov up

ad not been

you then 1=+ that roll

clotnn on it Lo you<?

had sgiven 1t to you?
PDid youw or did yoa not?

Ynen your father met yoa

& Ernss
And when ne camc up d id
bundle s 1irom Jerk owslktic

You knew that he went to Jerkowsicie “rnst to pet

aian't you? Ae You sSir.

what did ue tell you7

‘Did you ask him wihethier ne had scen anybody and asked them

' for any work? A

tjo sir, I did not ask him a2t all.

0. iWhat did yoa say to him and I
!

winat did he say to you? '

\ A. He asked me did I deliver tgufman's;

=

I says no, and




ne took them and delivered them.

Ile delivered i.:e@m and you went o i sir.,

And wirten youl £0 to liewburger & Ro around on Green
a2 bleoek away Llrornr upstairs
four bundles, d4di A. Three bun-

And who dia you leave tnere?

A. Tady.

EDWVARD
By Counsel. Q. Edward, Lo
Q. Where do you live<?
Q- Do you Xknow
C.
A
Do you knovw
Were youw on tne wagon on
A. Yes sir,

Did youn leave Nast liew

That wo tne morning? Yes sire.

dae

And who wans on the wagon when yoa came f£rom Nast llew

A. Kaplan and his son.
And yoursclf? A. Yes sir.
Arec you Lamiliar with t7e sirects in the city of MNew
A. Mo sir, nct down town, upiowne.

Upon the

2y when Kaplan was arres ted you remcmber driving

around with him, don't you? A. Yes sir.,
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o ———— s e 0t

Q-

Did ne bring 2 lcad of from Brooklyn to
deliver in New York<®
remembeyr llis stopping av i - do you?
A. Yes sir,

remermber his deliversring goods and receiv TO . don't

remember I
arrested only;;
of = Street, yo.. know wiiere
do not.
So as to call ~ atiteniion to : wiiere lanlanss
boy was . you renmemie:r front of tnat
place?
Do you remembor ihe boy Jacob ceing uaps
arr-ested? Al YWes sir.

yoa know Jdid

ERie et
wagon? Yes sir.
he accon.anicd by any persony
is montleman here, Lir Lamkay<o
Beflore the poliécman came up and whiiic Jacob was upstairs
was there zny otiicr person thiat camne up to the wgron that
you were minding? HAe Yes sir.

Who was it do you knowe A. Yes sir.

And w at did he doe A. He got on the wagon.

¥Vho was ite? A. Some fellow over tlere; there
ig, that is the gentleman (pointing to lLir.Grecenthal).
Before *r.Greenthal came up to the wagon and while Jacob was
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Ter
Ve

upstairs
A
Let
over withh any
A
o bundlee
So

that

the boy was upst

thercec

me call your =2titeniion

Tthie only

any other pcerscn

sir.

to this, was tliwie

No sir.

A. HNo sir.

persons tlizt y o

21 r was Lir CGrecentihias

A. Yes sir,

you remember

eray e
o 215

that

oW
RS SN A

Ana inat

cleotin. )

Do you Xknovw :10%

Mo si

Yes

Will you tell

czme to bhe placc

A. The:ec

place w.ere kapl

What kind

light mousteache,

Under what circumstitances how

on that wg on?

and he put it there

minutes, he saiad

Where did he go?

him.

their

niis

of a man was

Mr.Greenthal picecking ouwt &

property, picliing

+ btundle o tihie tail Loard

bundle upon

thizat bundle c¢

r.

Hnonor

arwd

¢ upon thwe

coens

~
i

(s34

oy
4l

an arrested

was
e o
a yeoung man with light
& d e cone to

e just had it
and he said

he wou:d be
that to me, I was fae only

A. I do not know,

came to

up thax

the wagon¥t

re any person cane

bundle or anytning oi that sort?

plaece while

bundle and saying

picece of cloth?

I

tiiat he got nold

niiat

L1OV
wos;on?
to tihis
vail-board.

was man with 2o

a

hair.

plzcc thiat bundlce
on his shoulder
vboack in a few

‘the

ene on wagon

I did not watch




Did lic o into ithe Lo 3 I do not know.

Was thau wago:rn 1aid it on

wagon?

in i‘x'on‘c'.

Do y ou ememiacer tihie placet

vias L i1e place berlorge tin: one av
arcsested? A- Yeos sir.
Sure about that?

place wihiaclhl was

wndle on nis saoculders,

laid it

e minuztes,

would know

Kaplan A I coald not
went, Tme went awly romn the wWos;0n.
You are gquite certm n it was no ¥Faplan?
Did you ce Karlan carrying any bundle ¢t
near o:» around the place wvhecre you rececived
A. Yo sir,
CROSS IEXAMINED.

By Mr.Weeks. Q. ilow Fddy, aryre you very positive that the place

'f:whex'c this mysterious st ranger put tihie bundle upon

the wagon
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was the place just befere thie one where young Kaplan was ar-
rested? A Yes sir,
You are positive of ite

A. XNo sir

came over witily HNanlan

wagon wit.: thiem beforey

Was ed 3C ¢ ; 5 1l eave
the wagon wnile
L. Yes sir.
And how frequenzly woewld wvhney beih
wagson? A. I do notr underssws
VWere you
How many + - : Iy 1 T imes,
They never sccmed to ! 4 idov leave younwi
wagon alone, did theye : bt I know of,
never sz2id any tiding
‘Did yocu see P’cie at all
Yhierce did you sec Liim
dowvn in Brownsville.
But after that you did not sec him at 2lle
Did not you see him that afternoon, think?
A. No gsir, did not see him.

Mr.Greenthnaol says that he saw Peite there svanding by the

fwagon at one time? A. I did noz see him.

You did not sce him¢? A. No six.




He might have becen theree ...« Not as I know of.
Do you remembesr wnevher the wagon swvopped =2t 21l necar Jer-
kowskie & Wrnst's in Crosby Siwreeit? He I do not

know wlhierec Jerkoewskic & Iirnst . seen tiie name

+lie door I wouald not rnow the

Haplan gow tirc woagon that morning?

*a1d he jain ohie wagon =

wason you

that right?

wagon I never sgen hime

\

id i ever

-y - PAR LIS . - . s - - .
~ot ol the wapsen andé siary

minauwes?
el
befozre
Jou were all taken inered
I mean Simon Kaplane
lie went awvay, how ltong. fiftecn
were tzokenr to tip S-ati on House,

not tell how long it was.

Some little time? 3 a good while.

He juwnped of{ the R aian't

he?
And after that you did not ¥ antil, youw ot to
thhie Police Station, that is Ae Yes sir, timt

is right.

Q. He never czre an! joined Johe wapgon at all, dta

A. No sir, not as I know of.

{
i &1




e . . '
By Counsel. Q. You 3523 e wOLld 50 away Somnellimes f'or a while?

<o

A. He would noit go away Tor =a long i me, went up and -

that morning bue e did went up and
on the

I am talking afrer you 1loit Brooklyn,

when you got to Iew Yoirk he ¢ thie wagon and went
into diffcrent houses, A. lo sir,
gonerally geis © if

And e went into nlaces, : 't e ? A. I did noz
1ook around to scc whethecr uc went ing by the wagon

pretty near @ T : i1 would not g 1l wason, he

would o up
sir.

Did ime’
I know of.
Dundls o

few.
Vecks. . When you s&y he got up and walkad zlongside of the
wagson it would be fox 2 f'ew m neves wouxld go awvay
for any length of itim sidewvalk.
Rignit in sight 0.1" ycua back was

sometimes to me.

But you never sav him 0O back to the wagpon and puil any cmpty
bags in, did you?a. .. e threw a couple ine..
When? A. When ne went aweay he last tire, he went

way one (;ime ard he threw some bagrs in and he went awvay

‘.again with two bundles.

ynen did you sec him after thad¥

A. lile took some more,

., bags and he wvent awvay and I never savw him any more until he [

82




went to the Stzation House.
Then he woent away with two bundles and ae came back again
A. Yes sir.

And then ne : : pan and then e went awvay?

You never saw iilm
Housev
last n H TOr away Wizl some mpty

T : Yes sir.
1o . i pundle was 1lyin;s on the tail-boaru of
the p Yos sir.

A. Yes
lio sir.

wagon?

What do you wori aty A. EBrush makins.
What was tiep difference bBetween tazt bagg and thie othiersy
A. The bagr “hat was inr i1ne wagon was ccarser stuflf.
the Court. Q. The samec color? : sir, it is light
color.
Q. Do you know whz burlap 1s? A. llo sir.
By iir. Weeks . Was thatr the only bay on e wagpon that was

ferent f»om any ol tnec others? A. Yes sir.

“When that bag putr on the wagon you never said anything to |
. . i

about did you®? A. No sir.




Counsel- Q@ Did you telil Jake anything about it wiien nec came
down? A. No sir, not there, 1 told nim after he

came down from Rosonberg'se.

Mer.Weeks. You did not tecll 1im any thing about i+ wuntil after

Grecnthual i nero and made a row about ity
A. Yes
you told Jake aboeut it just befecre he was

A. Yes sir.

3ILI0Y MAPLALT, swor: ana exs mined by Counsel,
whrouri: rne Interpreter.
Kaplan born? " Cogna in Russia.

How lpng;m nave yoa “ in tnis LIy : Ae B

Arc yJou 2
chiildren.
You

Y ou

phan, clotning houses. ao
Lwenty—cigniie S LOXES, Tire

houses in liew
Do you remomber whie dny you were arrestoay . Yo sir.
Do you remeunber the vime oi” day it was whan youd left your
home in Brownsville to come 1o llew York.

A. At nal?t past scven 1 nhitened up the horses and I
wyent on my route to et the burklles from the castomers.
And who went on the wagon with you to liew York%

A. I. my boy and Eddy-.




=
OHY

Did Pete come tO lew <ork with you? A. I aid not see

Pete,

You have ot two wagons, two trucks?

onec wWagon, that aa, 1 only hiad onc v agon.

That was the one you came to MNew York on? A. Yes sir.
Do you remecmber going into iiwe nousce of Jeorkowskie & ZTrnst on
tnat sir.

yoa wertv into Joerkowsiiie &

five minutes past one c'ecloc k-
did you o by the elevaror?

A. I wentv
clevator 21 »nat

it

you ap,
. Yes sir.

v ou’

so I gave aim
I comc backe.

Wiien you fger upy to <nie cuzrving floor wnomdo you se¢e on ihe
cut-~ing floo:r ii any person? A. Tihe {foreman vas nov

tihiere so I coald not sc<o tiiec {orcimane.

Whom did he sce? A I sco thie curiers

nothing to do witnn tne cutters-

HNid youw sce Greenthnh2l®

Your placec is to go to the men that gives ou

¢+ the work and toO

'see him and not secingz him what did you do? A A

s I did
‘not f£ind him I went back to the elevator and took the bags

and putr them on the elevator

.

B

and went down with the clevator.
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When you went up into that Place ycu did take some empty bags

with you, didan't you-;,» A. Four.

And when you went down ;lid Yycu take any cmpty bags down with
ydu? A+« The same four.

Was the rc anything contained within the bagms when you went
down® A. Nothing; he wants to Y sometithing more.
Let .iim say whatit he wantsy A. When I went down
the bags I put rigit near to his fect in the clevator.

I want you 10 repeat my words to him - X Jou can, to
lock at tne jury and to say whoether you Vdi‘ e i sieal
tnat picecec of clothv ie No sir.

¥Wnen yocu came down on that cle vator whnere did you go to?

A. When I czme down clevaitor to the bottom ihe
elevator man i 10 me and I tookx =z:uic bags
under my
When didg viagon

rent toe

A I went u;
s
Wiiere were you arrested? Lig: Lorner of Rleoeececk-
exr Siescet. )
You were not on your wagon or your wagon when you were
arrested? A. I did nor scec the wagon, 1 wras not.
Did you Plase that picce of elothn upon your wason?
A. Vo sir.

It has been itestified by several witntesses tiaat aiter you
were arrested you made the statement, "I aone it, I dose it,
fI will pay yoﬁ, I Will-g:ive you fifty dollars a mes:th", is
f':that 80, or did you say anything like that?

B O




A. No sir,

Q. Did you undersivand what Jr.Picard spoke to you after you
were arresicd? A. I tzlked the Jewish German lan-—
sguage with him.

By -tihhe Court. he understood what Llr.Picard said?
Jevrisin withh him.
toou wihat Lis 1.0 Fes Or nov
not understand
sometiring meore.,

The Court: I do not care

v Counsel. The police of:icer nas sworn te
he says yoa made to Lir.Picard. "I have been stealing,
you prosecute me and I will settle witn you', did he say

that or words to tnat cifect? I did not say

in Englisin thi
"nrosgecuteVy : "Presccutic.
id you say to ir.Picuard. Ydon't presccure me', in Engslishy
I do not know wha. i1 pneans-
thie interprcte:r thnerce sigeall to youv
~alkcd to me.
And not the-interpreters 7 I did not secc anyonc, I
was disguasted, 1 did nnot sec anyone.
They did tell you tnat
A. Yes sir.
And you said, "let my boy goY? Ae Yes sir, I said.
I will now read to you a question and I want you to explain

to this Jgury what you understand it to mcan: "Give any expls

|
ination you may think proper of the circumstances appearing inl

et &7
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+he testimony agal nst you and state any focts which you

will tend to your exculpation?"

A. I do not understand it.

Do you know what the word Y exculpation' means eiti
man or Rknglishy A. Noe.

Then 11 you answered in tiic pPolice To: arte I am guilty" in
answer to ihat gquesition. you A d now wnderstand L2 question‘:’
»

A. I did not.

And it was onl, tiic Nnext day afte: t’ge matiecr wWas cxglained
+o0 you that yox askea permiss iont:of wi Lwdra\r
that plca of sailey an1d substizute not weords to
tnatr effeet’ am not
sailty” af-or’

wr.wecks: I supposce iknew e

guestions that

Court: sa > ) K

e then changed hic plea

1 do not suppose you object
0 Thne paper

ir.VWeeks: No.
By Counsel.

Q- Wnile you were in jail

after you were arresuved. ilaplan,

lir.Picard come to +the prison 1O scc you? A. Yes

A

|

IR
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CROSS EXAMINED by LlLir.Veeks.
Now s Haplan, wili Jou kindly tell me Who siarited over from
Brawnsville that morning on the wagons fAe. I cannot
‘*Va.nderstand.
I.Ir-Inter}‘;rcter, I’lease transliates e I, my boy and
ddy.
Will you ask tihe wi LvNREess vo ploase lool me ‘.'.';'1cn'I ash tie
Questions and also T lecok at me when : answers ilpm.
You know the boy Peitec whno is in Court? A. YTes sig.

is name is Pete Rogers, is i noto A I do not

other name.

eve r hea- n3i

e was not upo:n t. TR n orning when

Brownsviile . anwv ? Ae I

Tihic waygon
did no-=z
that
When vou went oL Jewkowsizio » Erasty, for
wihom did you look$
Wiy «did you look ;"o;' aunza,
A- Lamka
Sive me the work and put it into :ine bags.
‘.Then am I right in supposi ng that Jou went up there to oet
’5 some bundles of work® A, Yes sir.
“"Did you ask your eXxXpress wagon to wait for you down stairse
A. No sir.

you tell your boy or Eday anyone upon tip vz on where-

yYou were to brings the bundles of work that you expected to

|

get in Jerkowkkie & Ernst’'se A. I told him if I ’
!

|




have a great many bundiles I Wwill leave the bundles and call
him to take them down to the wragon, if thercare not many I
will wake them and I will 'icd them at Kaufman's.

How many bundles did youa expecti to carry yoursel! from Jer -

kowskie 's and Kauiman'se Sie Triere is 2 man whe

vests there and if he gives me about ton, iifteen or’

twenty vests thnen I carry <tiom nyself.

Then vou €id tell your boy izt i Ol Kot some large bundles

you would mect nimn 1 you carriod tie bun-

dles you wonld meet him at Hauiman's: . z I tola
rtave bundles ziien I will come,

theirc and I will tell him.

How long Aid youa stzy in

Ae Abour four or zive

And afrer you cane down Te0om vhe:z'e whgse wvid Yol £079

A. I went ‘o Haulian's.

Dircei® Se Yes sig,

Did you stop on the wayy

You nave said that wien you were upstc
Ernst's you did not see e Lamkay or did you

speak to anyone up the rev ncet salk to no

ness w T I t.ave only busi-

one because I nave no bus
ness with Jo znd the foreman.
You madle o inquiry as to wiiere . Lforeman or Jo were®

o s8ir, I did not asl: beceausc Jo sometiimes told me

to come later in tre re, two or three iiours later and he will

have something.
He did not tell you anything that day? 3 I have not

.. 8cen him but sometimes it nappens.

Do you know iir.Isadorc Kaufman in ierceas Street, vhe one who

|
f .. 90
il




a largs manufacturing department? A. Yes sir.
long have you been naving business dealings with him?
A. The second year,
is he the man who gives yoeu work tiiere or did give
Vbeforc this present difficulty? A- There
boy.
Docs not ne give it to you scraict i mes?
does noi do it.
I mean young; JIszadore i. ¥ this thie one you used to
have dealings withn® : I talked witu him.
And in whnat langu=2a Y g 1abit of
The Jewishe
onc  you mean ¥ X : Foang man just
ti1e boss's son, tie
S
But you : i 3 { A. liot very
often.
And in whnat language did R A. The German.
You did no:x talk to : : A- I only tzlked
to him once winen I was out 3 thien I 1ost 211 my cus-—
tomers X + to nim and »lked Wit biim, e shall gich
me work, but hé did not give ne -
In what lancaange did you talk to hime Ne Jewish Ger-
mane.
Do .you know C arles Katstenstein a2lso in the express busi-
ness? A. I meect nim in the shop sowmetimes because
fhe used to take also {from Jerkawshie™ Lrnst worke.

Vhen you met him you spoke to nim, didn't you, Charles

i
yatsecnstein? A- I had nothing to talk to him, I take

! my work and he tzkes his, I have no conversation with him.

|
|
|
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talked with him

new r have

I meet himm and I had not 2 talk

By tie Court. @- Did he ever talk wit

Jewish.

said = did him in J

talked
HiriWecks.-
Q. Do yoa know

He e

Q-

+to hiim.
By

C.arles Levine, 2z c¢

& Co. . wants

tenstein, I

Aask him if ne knows ansthing a

Q.

to give ou:t the work for IFechin

I do rnnot knowswho

< 1

Sot

}=3

0. A him if ne know

A. One time I

vy
e

By Hr.Veeks®.p. Do you rcmerber

Joang. .an )

o~
o -

cd

G

You used

nime.

In what language would you tall

t2lk abour and tire

have muaehr to

I talked Ggerman.

Then you did not talk to him

A. I had

3

sk N/

A him to answer
he talk to him in Englisn?
Counsel. Q. When yocua say you spoke
.as gibberish, a Duteh jargon®?

" language, the way I talk.
. o2

the Court. Q. e

Ao

in FEnglisht Very seldonm,

with him.

h him?% Ae Always

ewaishe A. Yes, wlen I

)
<

lerk for Fechtheimer, Goodikind

to tecll somethiing about Kats-

cward.

bouv 1zxle s Levine

a
eimex, Goodlkind
you mean.

Ireenhrtiic iner,

CO.

to him¢?

word.s

Iew

1enever you talked

s .

or no to thiat questiony d4did
A. Mo sir.

Duten you mean what

A. Yes sir,

S

is known
my own




PETER REISKEY, sworn and examined, through tie

Interpreter.

By Counsel ; Peter, you work for Kaplan. icn't you?
sir.
llow long nave you workea for 5 A. Foeor Haplan I
worked two years.
Do you remember the day when

that in Polish.
that guestion.

Do you remember tle day upon wvhich
do not reccollect

Tact that ne was

Do ycu remembcer
rested?

Were you on the wagon i 1 New York that Kaplan's
boy was on when he was arrested< A I was not on tie
wvagon, I did not sece witen he
Where swwere you ii you can remember. upon that day?

A. I moved my own taings
York.
By the Couri. Q. On that day? A the day that he
was arrested.

By Counsel. Q. Did you go withh Kaplan or nhis son at 211 on that

day to delive: or rcceive any goods? s.e o sir.

CR0OSS IEXAMINED by lLir.Weekse.
Q. . Did you go to MNew York with them that morning from Browns-

ville? . A. I wvas not with him when he came from

b
i Brownsvill.e to New York.




. \
“ Qe.m-Then 1T ®ddy Fitzsimmons and Jack Kaplan ever testificd that
with them when +hey came fyrom Browns-—

you were on the wagon

ville to Mew York they wer

c not telling thie trutk, 1is that

right?
Ohjccted LO- Objection overruled.

A. That 1is not SO-

Pete, wnere were you when this ¢ tried before?

A. I was home at vork.

e A

aftor his

cins for Haplan then. A Yes sir,

were you workin

arrest I workea for nime.
You are vorking for him now, are e I worr Yor

him Now-
vprans® arcn’t you?

are

Counsel:
Mir.Weenks: I desire O recall ons OY two .wWitnesses-

JACOB KAPLAN recalled fcr fTuriher cross—examina—

tiorn-
Counsecl: I object 2nd your Honor will give me an exception-

The Court: Yes sir.

By Ar.VWeeks. Q- Jacob, I understood yoa to testifJ-this morning
that Peter who is here in the court-room, Peter Reils or
TYrams" as you know nim, isn't it A. Yos sir.
wWas not on the wagon tnat morning wnen you left Syownsville?

A Yese.
Do you remember testifsing upon the Zormer trial of this case
Yes sir.

three or four weeks RLEOY

. And do you remecmber +elling lir. Levy in answver to nis question
as to who was on the vagon +hat there was your father, yowr-
whercupon 14r.Levy put this question to

K

‘iself and two more boys,
Ay




you: "Q.What are the names of tite two more boysy A. Eday
Pitzsimmons and Pete Rogers, we call him YRlags". Do

IR

you remember SO testifying? A- O sir.

EDDY FITZSILLIONS
Iidaay,
in whicin tihiis
wagon, was that A. Yes
that tlez tzil-board of the wagon wWas down<
A. Mo sir I did not s=y the tail-board was down.
+ail-boars-d downv A. Mo sir.

this on thne Tail-Locard ' the wagont

Vien tiie tail-Loard 1is tihie way downe.

when Greenthzal got in

And izt
laplan?

Vhere was it thens B He ithrowed it over tnerec.

Yiho did¢ Sie JO Grécnthal or whatever his name is.
But you saw it there when he got on the wagon? A.Yes sir.
We have just had Pete on the stand a few moments ago, did
Peter leave Brownsville that morning witihi the wagon or didn't
he? A. No sir. hc did not leave Brownsville.

- You remember testifying on the forner trizl, do you?

i A. Yes sir.

}EDo you remember hearing these questions and making these

answers: "Q.And who was on the wagon when yocu came over from:

of¥




Brownsville that day? A-Jake Kaplan and ancther workman
named Pete. Q- Pete, that:is anrother workmane A. Yes sir.
G. What is Pete's other name? A« I cannot say.? Now is
the Pete who is in Court hereo To-day the Pete shat you rgc-
ferred to then?
Objected io. Question withdrawn.
Who was the Pete Eddy, tha Jod Testified about on t he
other +t:ial
Objcected to. Objection over:suled.
Did you testify abous< any rote on the oither
A« Nct as I remember.
If you dia estify about any if your memory was refreshed so
that you did remember testifying abous any Pete as having
been on the wagon wit:ir Jalke Kaplan, is it this Pete that you
refer to?
Objected to. Objection sustained.
By the Court. Q. Do you krowvr any Peie execept one? A I know.a
go0d many Peties.
Do you know any Pete that werks Ffor Haplan oxecept ihis one?
A. Yes sir.
He works for hime Ae o, e doos not work for him but
he goes for him. .
By LR. Weeks. 0. VWhno is tﬁc other Petei- 2te A fellow that
has contract business.
kir.Weeks. Q. Do yYyou know any Pete that rides on Kaprlan's wvagons
exXcept this one® A. No sir.

Now I will put the question again, do you rcmember on the

former trial being asked tie se questions and making tl se

L answers: "Q.-And who was on the wagon when Yyou came over

96
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from Brownsville that day? A. Jake Haplan and another

Do you remember that question and
1

U Y
answeryY A. No sir.

Do you remember this question and answer: "Pete, that is

another workmant A. Yes sir."
the Court- Q. Do you regmember that? Ae Yes sir, I remember |
that but that was
Mr.Veeks. Q. You remember that gquestion and answer but thav
a mistake? He Yes sir.
Q.;‘Then Pete was ncit another worlikman, s that 11t?
A. I do not understand how you meane.

"What was the mistake? A. The mistake was you
asked me so many questions at a 1 ime and did not give me
time to answer one before yoa put anothier one.

Mr.Weeks: This was a .question asked by :ir.Levy anrd not by me.

The Coirt: The receord will showe.

By Mr-ﬁecks- Q- Don't you remember now that that was a guestion
aslh ed you by kKr.Levy and noti by me: ; Vhat ques-
tion was that?

As tc whether Pete was anothcer workman? A. No sir.

;Your explanation of the mistake is I asked the gquestions so

fast that you cdald not answer tiem properly, is that 1t?

A. Yes sir.
remember that there was some mention made of Pete on
Tormer trial, don't you? A. I do.
what Pete was referred to on the former tripnl?

A. What Pcte?

wvho are you talking about? A« I do not under—




Q. You knowr; who Pete is¥

e on the Iurmer tria

i about Petc wsrnoe was & witness her

0. I want you

is it & fact or is a

not fact

sagon on the 4z or Kaplan's

3 arr

was not.

Any ostatement to tne

contrary is

+tc stave positi

+lhat ete wWas

A Yes sir.

1 are you talking

e to-—-Aday? A. Yes sir.

syely one way or the other

not necar that

cst? 4. Mo sir, he

not truet A. No sir.

REBUTTING EVIDENCE-

WMAX KAUFMAN sworn

You are & member of the €3 rm oY%

A. Yes sir.

Yhosc pFl=ace of business

Bleoecker and Viest Thira®

Do

-

yoa know the

acting &8

+0 tailors prior

Heowr long ad youw

nown

What deparTmcnt c: the

A. Mamifac turing-

In what

cornection aid

you rmees

A. lie comes ap for work 1in

By the p'_Cozu't. ¢. Tor the work?

out tc¢ z2ilors-
iWeeks-

11

By r lave youw ever

Q-

'.y mach? A sir.
i

'\
|
|

|
\\

i
i
i
v

Q- (| How :(‘requently?

weck pernaps-

By the court. Q-

Wwithin the two years?

o8

ocecasion to t

0, sbout +wo or tn

and oexamlil

Isadore

r

c3S

Pt

S2TX.
oeom your £irm’

Yes sir.

tne defe ndant?
our P lace-

A. Yor the wwork to give

alk with him very

~co times 8




By Mr.Weeks- During that period ir what language has your con-
versatio:: been conducted with hime¢ A. In English.
Bver in any other language? Se Nosir.

Tnen if the defendant testifies that your conversation has
been conduicted withh him in Jewish German or in jargon German
is he telling the trutn? Ae I sir, he is not
telling the truth-

You have never conversed witn him in any other language but

Englishe A. ot to ms reccellccection.

CROIS EXAMIITED.
By Counsel. Q. You know Samucl Picard of the #irmi1 of Jerkowskie &
Ernst. don't youl A. I know him by
Q- Which member of thne irm of Jerkowsikic
A- I ‘Know !Mr.RBrns<+.
Qe You know Lir. Ernst very well, don't you? Ae lio sir.
Qe Which member o: the firm are you intimate with?
A- I am not intimate wizih any.
You have becen talked to about zhe desire on the part of <this
firm to use you naven't 7 ou, A. No sir,
You zay this i i Tfor you for about two years?
A. Yes sir.
How did you come he:e as =z witness? L. Becawe I was
asited to come by the District Attorney.
In the two yecars that he scrved your firm you had no occa-
sion to question his Qoncsty?

Objected to Objection sustained.

N

Mr. Haufman, you have talked about this prosccution of Kaplan;

haven't you before? A. Ycs sir.

‘This Prjgecution has been the subject of conversation among a

,'
P number of the clothing people for whom he had worked?
' ‘ : 29

U | . S SV S,




A. Not with me-
You have spoken zbout it to others. haven't you?
A. Yes sir.
Yo have expressed an opinion, maven't you, about his sailt
or imnocence onc way or the otner? A Yes si¥.
thiat probably prompied your appearance here as a witness?
.
You probably have cxpressed your opinicn cither as
guilt or irnocence to Mr.BErnst ot tiie Z of Jerkowskile
Frnst? M conversation
witn Mr.Rrnst a2t all.
Tho did you talk to about this caseY
in the cloihing business.

s beocn sercved by this mant

To ni mressed an opinion?
To whem did ycu exprass an opinionv
ollecte.
Ang. ve: you have a vivid recollection of naving spoken only
in one language tn‘this man and cannot rccollect the name of
the person to whom you expressed an opinion?

&Ae No sir, I cannoi recollect thzat I ever cxpressced anwy
opinion as to his Fuilt or innocence-

By the Court. Q. I thougnt you beforc you had?
A. No sir.
ByvCounscl. Q- You say you did not know Mr.Picard?
2]

A. I kxnow him now being intrcduced to him; this is

iithe first time I ever met him, ever spoke a word to him.

i

By th? Court. Q. Sincec this case¥ A. Since this case I have

never spoken to him.




In relation to this case? A. Just a little while ago

in the hall to-day-

Counsel. . Can you cxplain to us whether you know through what

@eans'thé District At-orney becamec acyuzinted with the know-
l .

gedge of your existence as a witness?
i ’
B
i

f " A- That I do not know.

ot . . . .

¢ Do you know ir.Lamkay <r Greenthaly s o sir.

" Do you know HMr.Levy of the firm of Jerkowskic & Irnst?
sir.

Do you know anybody with that firmy either as a principal or

! '
i

employec? A. I only know Jerkowskie & Ernst.

You know Mr.Jerkowskie well? A. Yes sir.

QL; Any conversation withh them about this case or with anybody -
-
in the hnousev A. Yo sir.
Q. What is the nzme o tTire uncle you have spoken abouty
A. lir. Leo Hzufiman.
Q- - Is he in your firme e Ho sir.
{3 Is he anothesr Tirme " Yes sir,
Mr%?ceks. HNr.derkewskie ¥~ a mcmber cil your firm,
he? o« i not.
Q.T I uunderstand that yoar 1 e business is tnie Hauriman
tning business 649 Broadwa running thrcugh to liercer?
A . That is rignte.
Between Bileccker and West Third theat is, it
side of lMNercer? A Yes sir.

. You have met the various pentlemen connected with t:is case
i ;
¢ from the house of Jerkowskie & Ernst here at my office during
[ :

r recess? fe Yos sire.
!

! . . . . .
Counsel. Q.- Did you ever hcar the defendant Kaplan speak in

i

!

i

!
r l
I i
H any language other than English® H. Mot to my reco%-

lection to me. 101¢




——

T e

|
;,

i
|

i
i
1
i
h

i
|
i
'
i

i

speak German-: A. Yes sir.

And do you speak what is known as Jewish Duteh?

A. No sir, I understand it.

Q. T‘E‘ﬁoroughly? A I do not

i

By the 'C ourt Qe

'
i
Y

Mr.Weeks. Q. You are z clerk

"king & 6. -

- And as such £ave the work to tyim.: A

"VWe:re you in the habit o=

" vouchers for the work to znother man who
i him but I saw the man who Gave the

| How long do you know Kﬁglan in

Q. Do you say thoroughly«

thoroughly, I understand it.

CﬁARLRS S. LEVINE, sworn and examined.
r the house of Fotcheimer, Gooad-

A. Yes sir.

Wzs the defendant Simon Haplan at one time the exrressman

taking Pacikages from that house to tailors to be made up?

Yes sir.

ne time that he‘wag S© employved in connecticn with
W2s your pesition in the firm?

sur. rinthaed the giving out of work.
Yes sir,
£iving the wori to him ihen?

A« I did nowu Cive the work dircetly to him, I gave
£ave tne. work to
wWork to him give it him.

that capacity?

A. 3 long -as ne rode for the house, abou-t four or five

>

3months.

fTAfter;thathoun,or:five months:

Kaplan no.longcrcrodgcfav:u
thethouse, qiq rn? L. No sipr.

That was Sometime prior to his arrest upon this charge, was

it note A. Two or three weeks prior to his

arrest.
During the time that you knew Kaplan or five months,




did you ever syreak with him? . A. Yes sir.
Q.I In what language dia you sre ak? A. In the Englisi

Hlanguage.

i

Did you ever speak to nim in any cther language?
A- I might have spoken to him in Ger an alsoe.
What was the language in which he was in the habit of

“speaking to you? A. English.

i

Q.h You spoke to him in Englisn ana Kaplan spoke to you in
ﬁEnglish? : A Invariably.

b

! CROSS EXAMINED.
Co%hsel. Q. !low old are you¥? 4. Twenty years old.
QJ‘ How long have you been with that house? A. Five years#
“; You say you have known Kaplsn z2bou four c¢r five monthse
A. Four or five months.
v osay yOﬁ sometimes spcocle to him irf German?
A. Occasiocnally.
What were the subsects of yocur conversation scneral lye
A. Only in regerd to work.
You woula sSay, so many coa::s and so many pants to suechi a
tailor? A. And I would =also tell him things to .

tell the tailors.

You would tell him that very often in German®?

]

{

A. More in English, he invariably spoke Fnpglish to mei
|

; and I spoke to him in English.
Q. }Sometimes you did tell hiin in German» A Occasionally
Generally the amount of your conwv: rsation consisted in givi
'thc names of the tailors and the quantity of work, is not
that it¢? A, ﬁot always, I would tell him
Occzsionally to tell this man and that man hbou@mthe

SJes o o -




and also the number of the 1ot anda I would also have con=
versation with nim about some of the goods
there

ame whnich I thought he had taken over ther

that were over

e by mistake,
tand he promised me o sce about them; we had also some

¢rouble about tailors petting in gocds, I had secveral con-—

versations witn him about +iwat, I asked him ii they were
working and how ticy WwWerece working. -

Dia he speak ocod Englishnv A. Wot perfect English
1 A (] 2

given withh an accent as any {toreignerxr would speak, not veryz
grammatic but English that-wculd be anderstood by everyone
that spoke the Fnglish language-

-

How did you happen + 0 come 2 & witness in tnis case?

A. lir.Lamkay came up to see wnetner anybody up +t here
hada =ny dealings with the aeferrdant.

So you camc.down? Ae ANQ I wzs czllecd
naving daealinss
You Xnow lir. Lamkay< I ncver mev
pefore in my 1il'e -mtil the day
Dia you mect Greccenthal?
Do yow know any of iihie employecsS.

your cmployers ask ycu 1o comc downy

A. I went down to t+hem and askcd them whiether I can o

not; they said yes, I should go.

say Lamkay came to you Tirst? A. leecame up-

stairs and asked +he book-keeper who callied me.

|
By Mr-Weeks. Q The book-keeper called yow 25

I

the man wao hzad the
most dealings with Kaplen while ne was there?

A. Ycs sir.

case? A. Yes sir. .

Q.Q Lamkay asked you if you would come down and testify




Q. ‘You asked permission of your firm and your firm in the in~-
terests of justice permitted you to come? A Yes sir.
Counsel: . 1 objéct to the winterest of justice "

The Court: Take out "the interests of justice-

By Counsecl- Q. Were you promised any compensation for coming down
here? A. Mo sir-.

AARON LAWKAY recalled bY tir.Wecks-.

iy, Lamkay, the w7itness young Jacob RKaplan was asked tle ques-—
+Lion as to whe+<ner when yow pointed to +he roll of cloth on

the wagon that day he told you it was given him by the ele~
vator man of D.L.Mewburger corney of Bleecker and Mercer Sis-

A. He did.

Jacob Kaplan denicd having made such & statement to you, now
aid ne make sach a statement or notY He did.
You are positive of ihat?

w7ill allow

me I will make 2 statement.

Wnat weas the conversation between yow and Jacob Kaplan 2t
theat time?

Objectaed tO- Objecticon overmaled.
A. When I arrived 2%t the elevator door witn the police-
man I s=id o young Kaplen that you nove ariece of cloth
whicn is stolen properiy, something to +hat effect, "you
nhave got a piece of cloth which is stolen property on ycur
wagon- "

By Counsel. Q. Was the defecndant there?

A. Simon Kaplan
was not there.

Counsel: I renewv my otjection.

The C&?rt: The same ruling upon

the objection.

i
- i
witness:

I told him that I was going to have him arrested for
V 105
!

A a——— AN 5




" having stolen property in his possession.

e v et o s e bt AT s

Court: Tnis is simply something that is introduced now for tilr
puarpos2 as the Distric} Attorney avows, of discrediting tte
witness Jaccb Kaplam ; it is admitted for that purpose soleﬁ
1y the statement is not intended to bind this defendant at
all 2s to that being stolen property or anythning else, it
simply goes to the credit of the wiiness Jacob.

VWitness: After I made that statement to nim that he was to be ar— 7
rested for having stole.a property in his possession
By Mr.Weeks. Q. You had czlled nis at:cention to that roll of
A. Yes sir, I rececived that picce of
elevator man of I Mewburger's, it was left
L. Mewburpger's and 1 received it corncr of Blgecker
Streets-
And that was ithis picce of goods, was 141? hAe That
piecece of goods wihiichh was found or his wagon, that 1z tae
piece cf goods.
By Counsel. Q. Bbesides Kaplan whno is thé exressasman for your house.
A. Katzenstein.
Katzenstein was here in Ccourt to day as a wiiness?
A. I saw him in the hall, I don’'t know whether —-—--
Do yoa know as =2 fact that ne was brought here by your firm
as a witness? A. Ilot Lo my knowlcdge-
I amasking you‘vrhether you kn w it¢ A. No, I do not
but I do know that he came down of iiis own free will zhd ac-
cord.
Was he the expressman in eonjunction with Kap:an around tie

month of August. about the 20tn¥ A. He was.

I0s




CHARLES KATZENSTEIN, sworn and examined ,
by Qr-Wecks. Q- What is your business, lir.Hatzenstcinii
A. Fxpress business.

You are cne of the exipressmen ffor ths firm of Jerkowskie &
Frnst? A s sir.
And have been for how long® e OFf and on about
five yecars.
And you are still Se Yes wir.
Do you know the defendant Simon Kaplan? A- I do, sir.
He was also an expressman for that firm? A. Yes sir,
How long nave yYyou known nhim% A. I have Xnown him as
expressman for abouzt three or four years.
And durings that veriod of time have N
talking with nim upo:n: diferent sabjects?
And in what languzge nas your conversation generally
conducteds A. Fnslish.

ever been conductcd i any other language?

A. No sir

Have you ever hadg any understarding the

defendant's Fnglishe A. No sir.
Has he cever scemcd to have any difficulty in understanding

You when you spoke to him in English A. o sir.

CROSs EXAMINED.
By Counsel. Q- They have considerable business for express reoplet
A. 'Tlell, yes, considerable
You knew that he served the house, didn't you?
A. Yes, I served it myself too.

. You have not any particular love for the defendant?

A. I have no dislike for the defendant.

Io%7




. Did you express your opinion witn regard to the uilt or in-
p 33 &1

nocence oi this man¢ ' A. I may have.

Did yocu express your ] in this hallways

A. I may havee.
Were not you particulariy vindictive inyour language?
A. I do not know as I was.
To me? A. I do not kn woas I was.
It was not very pleasan:z language you spoke it
A ¥Well, I do not know, I .iave not spolicn
ctT the way.
Was it to his 1 cr disfavory
favor no more than
What kind of bags do yo

kind mostly as he uses.

Mr.Wecks: I think I will :

WILLIAIL AIT i, sworn.
Lir.Weekxs: t is admitted for the defendant tha:z on tle
Fitzsirmmons upon direcet
questions and . made the
"Q. And who was on the wason wilien you
came over from:Brownsville thiat day? A.Jake Kaplan and
another workman nomed Petc. Q.Pete, theat 8 another workman?
A.Yes gir.® And that the witness Jacob Kaplan on tle
former trial was on his direect examination by MR.Levy asked
the following question and made the following answer: Qe
f;What ¢ the name of the two more bdys? A7Eddy Fi;zsimmons
éiand Pete Rogers, we call him Rags."
By Céénsel. Q. Mr.Anderson, upon the last trial was there any
1

test imony 5iven by the police officer or by Lamkay or by

Io8
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- ~‘.——.--‘—_._n.v. T e, e

LT rememe

Greenthal or by Picard with relation to any translation of’ a

Paper in evidernce to the defendant in the Police Court?

A. My recollection is that there was not.

Counsel: I renew ny motion that your Honor advise the Jury to

acc:luit-
The Court: That will be denied.

Counsel: Allow us the benefit of an execeptii one.

Counsel surmmed up to the Jury.

The Jar, rendcred = verdiet of Suilty o7

ceny in the second degree.
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State of New York, Sing Sing Prison.

Medical Department .

R. T. irvindm, M.D,,
Physician. Sing Sing, N.Y., Nov,. 13th, 1892,

I have to-day examined Simon Karlan ang f£ind him in very
Poor health, suffering from chronic bronchitis, atonia dys-—
Pepsia and general nervous depression, Symptons of above
diseases made their APPedrance some mont g 2o and said dis-
€eases seen to be Progressing,
R. T. Irvine, M.D.,
{Phy. - Sing éing Prisan,
\
Sing Sing,

N.Y,.
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Police Court District. Aﬂidavit—Larceny.

@ity and Gonnty } o s
oF Gow Hork, W I m/
of SHo. (Zé agbum .%reet aged.... & 2 .. years,

being duly sworn,

occupation

deposes and says, that on the 189 f at the City of Hew Zork,

e the Gounty of Kew Zork, was Seloniowsly laken, stolen and carried away from the possession of deponent, in

tqe.... T 47 ........ time, the following Pproperty, viz . y

and that this deponent

tmw/%ufpect and Jcesyzect that the said property was ﬁ[mzou:]:ffl‘en, stolen and

carried away oy
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[ 4 ). Distriet Police Court.

-t

W J// 2| being duly examined before the under-

signed accordlnﬂ' to la.w on tHe annexed \'Ea.rﬂe and being informed that it is Tz right to
malke a statement in relation to the charge’ arrmnst hse_ ; that the statement is designed to
enable h L1 if he see fit to answer the charge and explzun the facts alleged against hzzy '
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that he’> waiver cannot be used

against heg.y on the trial.

COUNTY (ss
W YORK,

_Question. W
—

_Question.  How old are you? ) e

B Answer. 4/__/_2_2_/%2@@_ S ]

__ Question. Where were youborn? e
Anwoer» ‘% Y 2ol i P P I S .

Question. Where do you live, an(ée'\’v long have you resided there ?

B s N R S I

Questionn. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. % A Y72 S L

Question. Give any e\plan'ltlon you may think proper of the circumstances  appearing in the

testimony agninst you, and state any i'acts which you think will tend to your
exculpqnon'{

&l/('//é Wn/‘ D2t p /
LBteed Vv ,.flfz’r%[ ’}7/»"7/-\

[
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FRANKLIN M. DANAHER,
ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR-AT-LAW,
OOR. §0. PEARL AND NORTON 8TS8.,
ROOMS 4! AND &2 BENSEN BuIlLDING.

(Dictated)

—

ALBANY, N. Yaroooon MOV 0. 23510 0o 189 2

Hon. Delancey Nicoll,

District Atiy., New York County,

New York Citye.

Dear Sir:i-

The many Iriends in Brookly:: of Simon Xaplan

Lhave made an aprlication to the Governor for his

Pardon or 2 commitat ion of his sentence and the

matter is now vpending in the Fxecutive Derartment,

o

PRI ~awaiting the revort from rour effice, Kaplan ¥wis

convicted in the Court of General Sessions in the

city of New VYork before Judge Martine, of Crand

Larceny in the 2nd dejiree and sentenced on Oct. 23,

1891, to Sing Sing prison for 4 years. Without
passing upon the justice of the. conviction, wnich we
take for granted to have been warranted by the ev-
e idence, they beiliieve that Kaplan was the vietim of
1 of nis emrlovees and seem to think

circumstaneces Aant

that his sentence was aanduly severe and tnat +he




FRANKLIN M. DANAHER,
ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR-AT-LAW,
OCR. 8O. PEARL AND NORTON STS., —_——2-—
ROOMS 41 AND @2 BENSEN BUILDING.

ALBANY, N. Y., 1890
ends of jnstice have been subserved by the time he

has already servoed of his sentence., {aplan's fam-
ily are very vnoor and his chnildren small, They

have thne sympnathy of all who know him and they have
mnited in a large petition signed by the leading

citizens of the 26th ward of tihhe City of Brooklyn,
asking for his pardon or a commitation of sentence,
wiiien petition is on file in the Execntive Chamber.,

The rcason@Atam they ask for his npardon or comma-~

tat ion is, tixaﬁ.ﬁis health is bad, that it is not
likely that he will live dnring tihe remainder of
his term an:d thev are very anxious that he siould
be 23ilowed to go home to his Lfamily and to save
tnhem the horrors of his naving died in prison, I
inelose herewit!: a copy of the official certificate
of Dr. R, T. Irvine, tine prison physician, certify-
ing to his condition. A rerusal of its contents

will at once convinece you that the application is

made in good £aith and that the ends of Jjustice

= = i e R T IS T
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Sec. 198-—200.
o
CITY AND UNTY
OF NEWHORK,
being duly examinad before the wundier:
annexed charge; and being informed that it is h -(I'l?jht,. to
make a statement in relation to the charge against* n < that the statement is designed to
enable h t if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
that he is at liberty to waive making a statemerit. and that waiver cannot be used
against h on the trial.

signed ac

—— Question. W Your name ¢ ., _ .

— Answer. _ &7 Y It —/

- Question. . How_old are you ¢

_Answer, G P e

-~ Question. . \Where were. you born ¢

. _Answer. 'W' N

Question. Where do you live, and how lor

A ’_,An,-??ew'- @/’»W (Qv;/// l)f / ;

1 have you resided there ?

_. _Question. What is your business or profession ¢

ﬁ Answer. Q ’C(w L 2

think proper of the circumstances appearing _in _the _

Qruestion, Give any  explanation you muay”
any facts which you think will tend to your

testimony against You, and state
exculpation ?

I;..é"_“-""{‘?‘?- - j Ao M

/// /~/~-r ~/{ -
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be admitted o bail in the sun: of

Warder and XKeeper of

v e 3
Police Justice.

T RAVE ARTNEIEAQ ETLE AIIOUC-TIQIIUCT ... e e e e —

2o bail Lo answer by the undertalking lrereto annexed.

Dated........ ... X8 e e e et rerem e e e e st e -Police Tustice.

There being no sufficient cause to Lelieve the WitRir TaTedh ... . ... eemseeeeesee e eeeeoem

.. Swtlty of the offence within mentioned. I order e to be discharged.

e POlECE Jestice.
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THE PEOPLE, &c.,

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

A}

(e

BAILED,

No. 3, by .~T~$_34M;‘-%Mm

Witnesses.. (et amzna s

L
e
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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY

OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEw York,

, . R
C22 o (\%Z(L/(/\_//

THE GRAND JURYX OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by this

"‘/ ) M/
indictment, accuse X, Cop oy N k,(%g/é«' <t T ——

offthe CriyME oF AND LARCENY in the (Q-(’/c.o-,,c_z../ degree committed as follows :

The said \ (A/,’Lm’\-/ M(«% /é.\,(/(/

L

-

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the - ‘32& A
day of I — in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

y dtthe City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

J

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one >
-~

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away,
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the
C

of the State of New York and their dignity.




449

FOLDER:
4142

DESCRIPTION:

Kellett, John

DATE:
09/11/91

I
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Police Court—

@ity and Connty
of Pew Pork, (%

o No.

being duly sworn

occupation.

deposes and. says. that on the.. o@ ¢ / 18‘7/zl the Cily of New
York, in the ("mnzll/%«.w York, was fe Zonzmzs?_/ éaken, stflen and carried cwa y IS roneilee possession,

of deponent, in the (. /7 ....... time, Ihe following property, viz:

0.

4% 4 YA

wand theal (his depoient

las a probabie canse (o sy %/d:e/s \uy Ll tTee - ((ulp/ quzllpect sSeoniously taken, stolen,
and) carricd away by 22 AN = 2 46(/( !
' K ya el
CL e /_ - o Vo
//, 7. Dt vtd.. L Zr e
e o LT Lvrer T,

- 0/,&/£né/&owé Z
Lot 6»4:(: //”/fmr,._

VTR I
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\

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, 88.

feet, being duly sworn,-fleposes and

1
A f /l»(,-

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Police Justice.




“SH} A 900 f3q uayn

__‘Quest,ion._'_XX
S

—Answer._ __

Answer.

: Q""'-S‘liun.C?t is your business or profession ¢

See. 198—200. y District Police Court.

'Y AND COUNTY |
F NEW,YORK, |{°5%

being duly examined before the under-

make a statement in relation to the charge against h\ ./ ; that the statement is designed to
enable h \ | if h=z see fit to- answer the charge and dxplain the facts alleged against h
that he 'is at liberty to waive making u statement, and that h ‘)V/ waiver cannot be used

against h on the trial.

(

igned according to law, on the annexed charge; and Leing informed that it is h J rfesht to

4. Question. =—How _old are you ?

_x_inszewez-_,_,-__,[‘_ / _TEFE ¢

. Question.

_Answer.

Question. Where do you live, iind how long have You resided thé&re?

YAV [/7/7// & &

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony agninst you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?

Cl Al
-




2t appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

commitied, and that there is sufficient caus&tfo believe the }i&]&in named

Police Juslice.
I rave admitied the aborve-named...

lo bail to answer by the undertaking hercto annexed.

Dated __

. Police Justice.




BAILED,

Witnesses

Precinct.
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Hew Hovk Geneval Sessions.

PEOPLE ON MY COMPLAINT, >

As complaizant in the above case, I bog o vecommend
the defendant io swuch leniciicy awnd cleviency as the Cowvt and
District Attorney nay see jfit to show; but 9 expressly assert
that wy veasois for so doing ave n0t controlled by any advanitage
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AND COUNTY

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY

OI" NEW YORK.

U e USSSU S N OE——

Tinre PeEoPLE OoF THE STATE oF NEW YORE,

against
A
| :

THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YOILK, by this

THE GRAXND JURY OF

indictment, accuse

of the CRiME oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE (e -d o2vf DEGREE,

ommitted as follows:

The said //»L/ MM -
s ) -

Iate of the Clty of New York in the County of New York aforesaid, on the )J //O/ day of
AL 7 (,(//\)/;" in the yenr of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and ninety- - ™-.-\ ¢
7
at t]d.e’()i y and County aforesand, with force and armws, in the : OL(( j time of said day,
u

divers Ppromissory notes for the payment of money, being then and there du d unsatisfied (and of

the kind known as United States Treasury Notes), of a number gn do.lmmnm.hon to the Grand Jury
w_
7 g. aforesaid unknown, for the payment of and of the value of// — 2 e O
dollars ; divers other promissory notes for the payment of money, being tlxcn and there due and un-

satisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number ang denomination to the Grand Jury
aforesaid nnknown, for the payment of and of the value of s y_ P SN

dollars ; divers United States Silver Cerfifighates, of 2 number and donunnu ation to the Grand Jury

aforesaid unknown, of the viilue of A @ ~ T2 Tt
dollars ; divers United States Gold Certificatds, of » number and denomination to the Grand Jury
aforesaid unknown. of the value of g u/u% - 2\ ez A -

dollars ; divers coins of a number, kind and denomination to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, of

the value of y ’ . C 2
\_/ W(/@ - \)’(,(.» e AY OCC" é/,:(-/ (I

<

of“the goods, chattels and personal property of one

¢
3 e J 7 s OO /ﬂ(/(/l/ 7(//7
—_— /O - then and therdbeing founid

then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, agninst the form of the statute in such

case made and provided, and against the pence of the People of the State of New York and their
digrity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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FOLDER:
4142

DESCRIPTION:

Kelly, Joseph

DATE:

09/24/91
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BOX:
449

FOLDER:
4142

DESCRIPTION:

Keiser, Charles

DATE:

09/24/91

e
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Police Oourt— : }: District..
s .c‘\\\%\‘w\e‘
@ity and Qﬁ'nnntn % g

of Tetv Pork,

ofﬂé‘z%%/

occupatzon .

being duly sworn

Jeposes and says, that on the 3 <4 #1’ et the City of New
York, in the County of New York,

A SSA ULLED (mcl BEATEN ], /
é E =

with the felonious infent to tale the life of deponent, or to do /um griecous bm[/l_/ harm; aml wzlhout
any justification on the part of the said assailunt
.

Whercfore this deponent prays that the said assailant may be vppsbawlidswidebound te answer
for the above assault, ctc., and be dealt witl, according to law.




w1099 YN

I
—

See. 108200, . - (/District Police Cou.rt.:

o

being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is M5 right to
make a statenlent in relation to the charge against heeece that the statement is designed to -
enable h€€le~_if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged ngainst h€ v
that The 1is at liberty to waive muking a statement, and that h——1waiver cannot be used
against h Ca_~ on the trial.

—__ Question.__ \Vhat

Answer Yl

__Question.__¥ow oldweyow?

Answer. e / %

Question

__ Question. \Where were you born ¥
Answer. %

Question. zWhere do yoy live, and how e have you resided there ?

Answer. 7 ’ 2 i/\/

Question. What is your Business or profession ?
Answer. A//ﬂ M

‘Question.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony aguinst you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ¢

Answer. < < _%7




\ e
7 District Police Court. -

Sce. 198200,

— L4
CIT¥ AND COUNTY
NEW YORK, ;/2 .
g being duly examined before the under-
i according to law, on ;}é annexed cliarge; and being informed that it is Jr— right to
malke a statement in relation to the charge against  In~~—j that the statement is designed to .-

enable hwea—~~_if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against §h ¢a—w
that The is at liberty to waive muking a statement, and that he«_ % waiver cannot be used

against h we—~Aa_ on the trial.

— Question. _ N h

s2io7E” How old m 4_/ —

____ Question.

Answer.

Question. Where do you live. and how long have you resided there ?

Question. What ix your business rrofession 7
Answer. - /C/ QV/%/
. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpatjomy




"

commitied, and that there is sufficient cause to believe the within named

g@ka‘eqf I order that he be held lo answer the same and he be admitted to dbail in the sum of

Yo POLE CE JUSTECE.
There being no sufficient cause to beliere t7ee WALRIN NAMEQ ..o oroesirerrierres e

.............. ~~.~._ eeereeennner QALY of Lhe offence within mentioned, I order he to be discharged.

20,3 LY .188. e e oot e e ae et ea oo eeree et er s resriesnrssnesens Porice Justice.

L R
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@Court of Geuecval Sessions of the e

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tirr PEoOPLE OoF TIHE StatTis oF NEW Yok,
cagainst

\Qf;q.@v ’E‘(‘”““‘*& R
L e NP, N N ’xéo‘;’\ AR e

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this
Indictment :u-cuse(\g}“—«?’\:\z WML RV WERPERS> NN
MV\)

. " - - - - -
of the crime of /(ﬂ::.\?u\& R \5\1 2k A Ty

i
i
!
i
+
!
|
[}
¢
|
1
!

commirted as follows:

The said "\@‘Q’V '\_-(\q_\)\\.,l\(w\b\, %“K&,orQl
kksa_:\mw ,m

Iate of the City of New York. in the County of New York. aforesaid. on the

b~ \:\r\x\, day "fs <. S\’D’ci:l the year of our lLord one thousand
eight hundred and WW . at the City and County aforesaid,
- . NN,

P P = W _ ?\@-:M = o e B ‘myo\ﬁ\_, :

S S e e e Ko Do s S

~

— oS Sea._ - r&.\m M @;’\u’\) . IP;\,,QH. o~,;,—b~' !\X‘-\nnﬁ_ }

_)&.‘a—v\s’ RS- S SN NP, SR> SN ,\,\:.:)a\.?.&\l,\x I
MMM‘X Do A DL n‘mM<~MQ_, m
Reedr A s Dt ool B e e S (XD v v tany

: |

P SN




D ool ol B S TSmO SRa ol
2ol a s i D . S o Q.Q.WQ,\)\,_Q,\ALXM&V
i I e DA VUG S

‘ Do e oL ST T b eSS
m\’&w wj%cnw o\...\b\,

i'

!

\ K ’\’Q’D\ > e, IXM_W MC-K-K._.\
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S A/ COUNT.

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the suid

’&(&LMN
W &m\..( B R I~
of the CniMge oF O\AA,O\/W(/\T A/‘V‘\-/ A.'/Q-v«/ /a»e/co—v‘,d/ 'd/c@""cﬁ/: ——

committed as follows:

The said W m.\{ ——— B R o a -

late of the City and County of New York, on the —%—\K ——— day of

Q’L“é‘k‘\“&—m»g in the year of our Lord omne thousand cight hundred and

ninety- —————a___ > at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon one

\W@.MJ&’
in the peace of the said People then and there being, feloniously did

did make an assault; and the said \thaé\,\, ’X&Q_B\\X S D,
R D Tl ia s -

with a certain SO~ which MW\(\ the said
i then and there had and held, the same being then and there

to produce grievous bodily harm, P~ » the said
Ifully and

wilfully and wrongfully

in . right hand ~~

& weapon and an instrument likely

- I, W @w‘t«»& sthen and there foloniously did wi

wrongfully strike, bent/ bruise and wound, against the form of tho statute
in such case made and provided, and against the peaco of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—
AND THE GRAND JURY ATORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said
r.\\&%e...@\.\, /%\mm\ - D TRl o o~ "\./\,n_'\./\_.or\,

of the CRIME oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said Y < @\‘ <SP 3\9\4.,\& o e D B T NP NN

’-X.\,o/:m,nr\_: . X.—M_.

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon the said T TSt o oS r\

in the peace of the said People then and there being, feloniously

did wilfully and wrongfully make another assault ; and the‘snidK\(q> NS TR DR e e - D,
IR el o Tl Bl . et P e <~ e R e e L.,

o ST AP P SR o m O e AL e P e R el S

_“\~,_.\\ o ~o. M\\V\Q g D P> -«.—‘»;&*xb-:»b\ P . - . ;%Cr-b«.\r' e D

DI D oe A o, A ' %;‘ou.,:)\ﬁ&,{msx\_ e TR N S S VAWV O

P WY RN R o, ada > RPN W - P N —— AN ~—— o Toa B D DN,

e S N S TS TR N R e S S TR T e T SISy

which )*X\o.. . the said '\@v@d‘\(o?& -——, DS Siarserm T anoaQa_

in JQ:;:':, right handsthen and there had and held, in and upon the ANl oo -
= the said ~O—SieaSX \%Mwwg\c\>

wrongfully strike, beat,

of —

then and there feloniously did wilfully and
bruise and wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feléniously,

and wrongfully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the said SO~ <=

wilfully
to the great damage of the Sai(l\\“"\x“&_\\@‘ w#\(\
ace of the

= =

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the pe

People of the Stiute of New York and their dignity.

De LANCEY XNICOLL, District ttornes.
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FOLDER:
4142

DESCRIPTION:

Kerr, Thomas

DATE:

09/09/91

I

4142




BOX:
449

FOLDER:
4142

DESCRIPTION:

Stanton, Fiorence

DATE:
09/09/91

Mg




\

\ R AY
3 [ «\ %

a\\ AN \ .
\v:s;‘ \\ £/ l\r...\ﬂq.\w\
7 'ING oMY, ¥
% L &x
SR o
Moy 352@\\%\ \\

e
§§.§< \ N\“

L o

B s s e

\.ts_\ Q

¥
-

“bpon unag —

///. 'S \\ WQ .
10 ::. A. .
E:. — B B / A1 A
)13 \\\ _éa o \!\ \ U \\ Q\

w_ \ —._- PalLd . \N\\\VQ\J.» \\\ v \4\\6

‘losuno)) /.w . \\ % PR—

gye - B}

(~ovg \\ v, ;
\ .

TIREA I 15T = S BTN A g Y Ve

'
\
!




CITY AND COUNTY ' .
Y AND COUNTY | o, » _ DISTRICT.

o

‘ot 9.00,39 07 ULoMg

o

of INo...... - . Street, aged . years,
occupation : being duly sworn deposes and says,

-188

, a I /fm/ lrriZiee
A 2ern 774 21D tan é’%/m '
/é\[‘ Az /&///nw/m?@g T a~ 72 den /4[
(Cr104 /// /uu,( szl //w?’L < z1 @'%
//ﬁ/éw A /rﬁé/ %47 ZZL ﬁ/VL % aA
/ﬂw% %% ~€ ﬂmo«dmcﬁﬂ/f % 7//7&&(

R s gy
Wz %/MM aﬁé/M /fék/%Z /

— 51y

70 6

|
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~
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IPolice Court— - / District. Affidavit—Larceny.

Wity and @onnty }ss ( ‘ _
of FHetw Pork, ” :
& - 0 ~ £ RADRAA ./%a, o 2 277 Y D

of No-[.g/s Mﬂ/é AN We// Sbre/at, aged“.‘.....\s“.Lymrs,
occupation....... 73/’*‘&%55 e BN i e being duly sworn,

deposes and says, that on the A e S Dyl v 189/7at the City of New
. P 15—
Yori;, .zy the County of New Xork, was fclonious%_/ takern, stolen and carried away from the possession

of deypfonnent, in the. .y éet. Lo ... time, the following property, viz:
/2 ; ¢ property

4

the property ofd/%m Al

A Y274 ﬁzt t% deponent

Ntas a probable cawse to _swuspect, and does suspect, that the chrl was felonigysly taken, stolern

and carried away by.. %MM : 7 . £ Y'%Jégwmw/zg AA AL
AN

...%(—-OWOD&L-Dé Oéf m&(_ anld. .. «Zc Wm7ww

aa.c,o/, p(,‘dz‘m-aw :c et ... k%

_{M,am‘{m{mpé ............... AN Lok




sace /Mm—d

/M.«// Lo M/ e c.of / At ﬂ( WUW

//14[ Ab Q. af‘?/mg/mvzz M@é/é(/ﬂ/f?
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CITY AND COUNTY }SS

OF NEW YORK,

]




Sec. 198—200. District Police Court.

CITY AN COUNTY

YORK, (‘
(L.2X¥. M : W : being duly examined before the under-

signed according to la.w on the annexcd charge; and being informed that it is h —xioht to
make o statement in relation to the charge against h = that the statement is designed to
enable h il he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h -~
that The is at liberty to waive muaking a statement, and that h a waiver cannot be wused

against h ~~ on the trial,
_Question. What is g
Answer.

Question. How old are \'ou 4

Qurestion. Where were yvou bm n/
Answer.

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there 7

Answer. [/ 7 5 A/%W/VV\ f S~ ol / / E on—<d

Question.  What is your business or profedsion ¢

Answer. ’1./ W

Question,  Give any explanation yYou may think proper of the circuumstances appearing in the
testimony agninst you. and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpartion ¢ ;

-

ﬁ/m/\/fﬂ/(//%‘ﬁ/‘//u é
(
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. District Police Couré.

L LRt Deing duly examined before the under-
Che anue\ul dhu ge; and being informed that it is h \L-i_«rht to
relation to the charge against h == that the stacement is designed ‘to

see it to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged ngxunb.t, h
: h ~—waiver cannot be used

Il’l‘llxe a statemeut i
enable h \ if
that he is at
against h

10
iberty to waive malking a statement, and tl}

Question.

. Answer.

.. Question. How old are youy
Answer. 2741_

Question. W here were you born ?

Answer. ’% /{

Quesiion. Where do you liv e, tow long have you resided there ?

Answer. / / f 2__ 4 /‘/é @Vﬁ/—\ E o~

our business or profession 1

Question.  What is

=t evey

Qrestion.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstunces appearing in  the
testimony against yon, und stute any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation

O - o

Answer.

3y
v~
> 5
>
\ ~N g
I
X =
Y \).'
i
L d

i

./_..

b

>
/7
¢

wopenp mz%-/
t

<

B




It appearing to mec by the within depositions and statemnents that the c

committed, and that there is swufjicicnt cause to belicve the within nanced....

guilty thereof, I order thiat 7
ORI £ 4 = Hundred .Dollcrs,.. .

E il

the City Prigon, of the City oy New York, until /;Lc Give such bail.

%// ................ 2 187 /

I have adm.ilted the above-namerl

to buil to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

— .

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named...

. suilty of the offence within meentioned.

[ QN

f

I order

ripre therein mentioned ras beerns
1
2 Cof 3D Y

¢ Iveld o answe thc same and ﬁc be admitted (o bail tn the sum of

..and be con.mitted to the Warden and Keeper of

e e POLECE JULSEICE.

. tobe disch'a,rged.

Police Ju<tice.




BAILED,
No. 1, by ____

Residence

Police Court---

THE PEOPLE,‘

ON THE COMPLAINT

Wence o[o:4,ch~ Lfl

b

G




AL BESSTONE, TART TIT.

a:

apleauvea wizii Plorence

larecon in

aQrolticu

axrinks ol itoer and I
anythin: more. I could not sar whar
drink. I niad abbout 50 cent. altore

can't tell vou anrthins more.

JAMES E. LISTOII, &« wiiness for tite People, sworn, testified:

I am a Police Officer attached to the Sixth

e T




Precinet. I was in ne neishborhoor
Chztham Square on Special duty on

2omplainant who

(S,

St 21 AU Lhe2re corversi

<

then Hexrry

I rrabbed t:ie
vehing e

to thwe <oy, - ¢ "ol T he

carm i SIS I arrestea titoce two

sefiuire anc Jounria T iine s 2 i'our pen-

Dossession. The defenyn : C 2 3tatenent

Court that he hag i mz2teh and was

e e eege

e R

F




abour pieclkine

arowurnds

is tie 2leontyri

tie corrrer .

That was Tire

DELIC
THOAS tiie defendant S, sworn, test ified:

live at :o. 178 Lulberpy

Street in this city.




I am 21 vears of arme, I have never been convicted ol any

crime nor have I ever been arrested. I am employed wriv-

ins 2 zruck Cor .

Ly riecke - Ann Street I haad

P

been itle for 2 montiis becautse I in the hos-

tal ket.

Y2y Gowrn to
vas surlierirn:-

TOT vy ouit of

mouttiy Twice .

arrescted.

You had

sir,

Wicre niaa yrou woriact
Wheee hau vou lived: it 172 Lulberary

What tine did rou ~o 20 l-edon this nicnte

(v
a2bout 10 o'cloeck

SOt up at ona ¢ A About twonityr minuses rast one I

arrested.,.




You were Foing down to Chambers Street ifospital? A
1

GOoWnN near Gieenwicly

was

ETATITOL

knowle
e ver been
can.e downr T o

r TN
H WS

vated andg toeomineg down: tolie lowery I walked dow:n

Sonrnetininre to eat in 2 Chizatiiar, Sauara rre st iranyg . I

cisar, When I «~ot out o' thie revtaurant I turned
around 2and walkecd up : Centre .troet up as far as
Wortir Street ance I o roinm throwri: Woirth Street again to

the clevated roac at Chathan Square when this young

“




man Hery met

mateir,

T
Ile

A

which,

cigaretts

tTime aic

o'cloc!:.

Wihiere dic you

mz

haa =

at llott Styreet

and

cizarette or a cig=zr,

a match out

myr
oy, Iie

steppe 0

ci’ficer cane over o th

rou leav:

~c

Street rrestauranc

ol
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@ourt of General Fessions of the Beace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

\.

Tir PrEoPLE OF THE STATE oF NEw York

oy ageinst
e &F/’ é/—k/'&/
IFtment acceuse

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this in

>
Ll ce Cortromc f Che : ” F: 5 .
of tTie 61:1411-: d/\ FRAND LARCENY g the 34.‘4’4 degree, committed,us follows:

7

The S“id%—-n%a \\/67/\/ Q/ %@ J@, Z;”%

late of t-]ue&iyﬂ)f New York, in the County of New York aforesaid. on the - R o S

1 the yegr of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

day of -

—
i - o2agv, in the ‘7‘-8/ — time of the said day. at the Ciry and County

aforesaid, with force and arms, - N _., 7 %/‘
W@W [ 24 CF R o‘,/w’f e S ¢

A Q
then and there beingfou ongLspn of the said
then and there feloniously, di eitl, take and carfy awgps
case made and provided, and against the pegce

dignity.




BOX:
449

FOLDER:
4142

DESCRIPTION:

King, Charles T.

DATE:
09/14/91

Mg
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Court of General Scssions of the Leare

OF THE CITY ANXND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tine PEorLE orF THE STATE OF NEW YoRK,

against

J

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

e e il T \4171}14//(1

of the CriME oF ASSAULT IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows.

. A a, e
The said /(O_/A,a‘ﬂ/&ﬂ (y/_ _,//'/(/7 —_

Inte of the City of New York, in the County of New Yorlk, aforesaid, on the /‘3/7'{'4
day of aw Cf Ct-&—'f: in the year of our Lord one thousand eichit hundred and
N at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon the body of on\‘e//(/rﬁ,u/

7
/% W-/E% in the pence of the said People then and there being, \with force
and arms, unlawfully &G4 make an assault, and /Ll/l/b(. the said -0 A'/i{/aré,

A
O/;é‘,l/l/ijlt; did then and there unlawfully beat,;{ wound and ill-treat, ! the great damage

 / Y
of the said ———- ,JW%M -—-against the form of the

statute in such case made provided, and against the p(_ﬁ&)f the People of the State of

District Attorney.

New York and their dignity.




BOX:
449
FOLDER:
4142

DESCRIPTION:

Kleeblatt, Julius

DATE:
09/22/91

4142
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Police Courxrt— District. Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and ('Lumttg} 9/5
&wv% /://4/{:

of fetw Pork,
of No. ._3..17 o z’)’ Q“&&Mﬁ . QAxt, aged...... 36 ........... years,
occupation —///é;'r‘ 4‘.0/ LA e e being duly sworrn,

deposes and says, that on the 67 day of =5:i. 189 I/ at the City of New

York, in the County of New York, was feloniowsly taken, stolen and carried away from the possession

of deponent, in thexavy time, the following property, viz:

7 /zu A it

N awa)

’ 1
| l{

H Y
X
=

=
=

and that this deponent

has a probable cawse suspcct and. does suspect, that the said property was feloniowsly taken, stolen

and carried away by. M/LL/M ‘9(&

/{;ﬁ‘mf ,?o‘x i0d /{

lp/ -3 fnna mZy‘»,,. & Zga/é Oéf..u/r’
'6/ rvmzcx:x.ajw ..... a.oor'/l/ MZ yyt/_éa{uaénao.r/m_

%,’Z/M A A ... gooamo bm/_/x.& ap/ow-oa-poé (O AN
cnr.oh... /MM7 - N AQ&L%% %74 Z—_LM ..................

/mf mpd Y ¥ P a—aaa

Zé ek, aC./SfoWC@ Ga.éu.hw...(/’ ocecct... /UYYY‘-/ 7‘22

G%ZZMC







-

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, SS.

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponentTare

Lknowledge.

olice Justice.

//

2




f

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

years, occupation.. . O y=24

2'47 . g //4-5 .Street, being duly sworn, deposes and
says, that he has heard read the foregoing atfidavit ofgyyy[/ % W

and that the facts stated therein on information of dcponcnt are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn to befure me, this... /" ) / S ;
5‘% L-"’.’.. ........... 1894, |

day Of ... P T

..... L4
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Distxjict: Police Court.

.being duly examined before the wunder-
and being informed that it is h right  to

— ; that the statement is designed to
11 ——

agcording to law, on the annexed charge ;

ie a Statement in relation to the charge against n
if he see it to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against

is at lbgity to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used

fte trial.

_Question. \Vhat i) name ? ~

. Answer.

_.___Question. 1-19 old :ujé you? )
. Arswer. / / g / o
?

Qrestion. ¥ e you bor

Answer.

Quesiion. Where do You live. and how long have you resided there 7

Ansewer. j i 5 - g‘ 32 S %/" Z 7%@

Question. What is Your business or profession ¢

Give any explanation You may
Y d R
testimony against You, and state any

excnlpation v

think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

Quruestion.
facts which you think will tend to your

- =
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/ . .
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ND COUNTY Tn the name of the People of the State of New York; To the Sheriff of the County
Clgg SEVV YORK, }SS' of New York, or any Marshal or Folicernan of the ()}ity of New XYork:

Seoc. 151. Police Court District.

Whereas, Complaint in writi

Justices for the Ci%f New York, by

of Noé%a—mae&znz___
/at the City of New York, in the County of New

wM .t ké}l and carri@W saj inant has cause to suspect, and does suspect and
believe, by A WM g R . . e e,
Wheotfefore, the said Complminant has prayed that the said Defendant may be apprechended and bound to

answer the faid/ complaint.

Th are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command ycu the said

Sheriff, Murshals a LPolicernen. and eve of/ye to apprehend the bod of the said Defendant.

and ferthwith bring /= . before me, at the % DISTRICT POLICE €OURT, in the said City, or in
case of my absence or inability to act, before the nearest or mest accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the

said charge, and to be dealt with according to law. /

7/
Dated at the City of New York, this. . ./ Clw day of ./

7




Police Court.. L District.

THE PEOPLE, &c.,
ON TIIE COMPLAINT OF

[ DUt NU VM
Mq u0aq Suravy

AdH

D Jo
] .l-')l)llll ot 0.[()}9([ 1

Warrant—Larceny.

e}

..188

__Mayistrate

The Defendant
taken., and brought before the Magistrate, to answer
the within charge, pursuant to the command con-
tained in this Warrant.

e Offf Cer.

Dated 188

This Warrant may be exccuted on Sunday or at
night.
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It appearing

A . o .

por .

Lo me DLy the within depositions cned statements that the cribie tlerein mentioned pas beer

cornmvitied, and that there is sufjicicnt cawse to belie

Jie belecld to ansteer th esame and e be admitted 10 bail in the suny of
e .
Ilierndred Dollars, .. ,"r'}ul be comemiitted to the Wardern and Keeper of

urg, until Jee Zive srecl Leil.
73

18 ? J - %ijmw

TThiree ceetmritted tlre alitr-rranied

.
Lo Wtil Lo ctrssteer by tlre ten (7:'1'/117.'1'11_3‘ Tecrete cenrened,

pp [l'll.._WL. //

There being neo

Derted

bt

sufficient carese to Lelicre th, 1 ithir rierrn edd —

CZwilty o the offence witloin recntioned, I oorder tobe discluerged.

~olice Jwustice.

o . .
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BAILED,

oo 2:/44 Vs " Police Court---
TIIE’ PEOPLE, -ST(‘.._ \

[ XY

___________ L Bl Ol

Q"‘&

SYRT

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

Dated / ﬂ .................................. 1:?’

:: Wfenee QNE

e Mazsistrate.

- . Strect.

4

. Y .. M evean. eeaned) ma o, T /. - ety N
~o3 0731'0—% o
N 7% oo
0 b ey P i

~Vomacr S

g~ 134 R,




T. F. GIBBONS,
%Zfléz/z/zzc}; e @auaﬂma%t et SZ}anz,

NOTARY PUBLIC AND COMMISSIONER,
2684 West 19th Street,

P

Bet. Tth & Sth Avoa.<. 7 S e / NEW YORK.

OFFICE HMOURS, 6 TO 10 IN THE EVENING.
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LELIAS EINSTEIN. JOS.WAXELBAUM.
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@Gourt of Grenernl Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEoOrLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

adainsé

~,

!

; . ////'/, -
/-"","5(/&1 -2 ‘%/L’ Lo 4/‘6/06(

N ———

C”
The Gl@d Jury/of the City and S%x (oc// Yol-k, by this indictment, accuse

\

= A\ o2 & < .~ N~
C7 h e / .
of the CriyME oFr S e e d LARCENY,c .. C e wVCe ool o(c_ v C/(/ committed
&

as follows: ' R

/;/'/ g L
The said 4S8 (/( < LT \'\\/\/é;(’/é‘/@/zjc_/

C
late of the (,1t “of New 101]‘, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the -z .- , (,/%

day of /L,(/;<¢‘ LAQ/(_ in the year of our Lord one thousand eight lulzlirdd and
ninety- 6—(\1/ , at the City d County afo‘)l?sgid,_l)uing then and there the

€. o & Cte € et 2 \.f‘[' of - < Q"/jl,ﬂ‘(C/. L_Q/Z PRI U <. oe 6/

N T R e e, e e T o
<./ <. ‘

( L { , S e e Y . . .

and as such CALe s 0 2 ccr { RS e then amd there having in his

possession, custody and control certain "oode chattels and personal pu»putv of the =aid
\/

%L/V (\_’ /\/(/C//‘\/C( P T U (C/ PR VY o SN /( (g){’_\”“«“ e s A"—//o
"/ <

~ /~—¢/</(U =t -

\_/Ct,f‘L o N <‘) - * A : - '/,' C N o e
N . < S . J
- \Z:((/ - 4 B y e ct x’/ Q}«‘A’L&‘L/Q;((
) -(—/ 7 O S
Cled A7l CAc ‘¢ x -/<<C = (OC/ - <o A7 D

the true o“'{er thereof, to wit:
A

Ty

\ - s y
the said - (/( . wu-t Q’} ’ L ((7(/ é(«;é/ (_/ afterwards, to wit:

on the {a 1d in the year aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

did feloniously appropriate the said N LoCe .o \(,a( L2 e J—L..c,)/
- ] -
(
~

to diigZown use, with intent to deprive and d(:frnzz)hc said s e e .. ;

N / o - .
oAl vnlow v ceod New o A
of the same, and of the se and benefit thereof; 'm('(tl stmo goods, clu\tfel and personal

- N 3 . . r
property of the .sm-lt/éz s ‘7(({:/@//&_ é‘ﬂ -~ ?,((/( Crep maate s c/\ e e U
o J </
did then and therc and therehy feloniously steal, against the form of the statute in such case

made and provided, and agaiust the pence of the Pcople of the State of New York and their

dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.







